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Fyber  
2016 — Year in Review

“ We believe in creating a world where every 

quality content, while enjoying a pleasant, 
relevant user experience.  
Our products fuel the creation of such 
quality content by empowering publishers 
to unlock the true value of their properties 
through advanced technologies, 
innovative ad formats and data-driven 
decision-making.”

■ 

gross 
revenues of +68.9% to €218.1m

■ 

■ 

■  
 

■  
 

■  
 
 

 
■  

 

■ HY1 2017 revenue growth above 25%
 

 

aggregate for HY1

1  
2

 

1 2016 (€m) 2015 (€m) Change (%)

Revenue 218.1 129.1 68.9%

28.6% 31.5% -2.9pp

2

 
after tax2

-5.8 -12.1 52.4%

-22.1 -14.9 -48.0%

12 months ended 31 December
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Andreas Bodczek 

Chief Executive  
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throughout 2016.

Dirk van Daele 
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on video.

 

 
 

Powering the Digital  
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Fyber RTB drives 
50% YoY revenue 
growth for top 
broadcasters

Finding the right 
mix of control 
and revenue

Valuable 
audiences,  
such as:

 

The premium  
broadcasters  
at a glance

120M
Monthly Video Impressions

12M
Monthly Active Users

Jose Carlos Cardenal, Trading Manager, AUNIA

Exponentially growing AUNIA’s 
ad revenue 2X

eCPM growth

100%
of ad revenue  
through Fyber RTB

50%
revenue growth  
year-over-year

Control

 

High eCPMs

high.

Quality Ad Campaigns

Creating a win-win for top broadcasters 
and advertisers with AUNIA’s PMP

Fyber RTB for Publishers 
Case Study
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The Technology 

 

 

 WINNER 
 

PRICE 

WINNER  
 

2nd PRICE AUCTION  

WINNER 
 

2nd PRICE AUCTION nd

RTB Auction 
Find the RTB highest bidder 

Calculate the 2nd price auction

 
nd price

Is there a SAPI 
price > highest 

bidder

price > 2nd

A

B  If no 

1.

2.

3.

4.

How it works RTB Auction

 

Inneractive’s Exchange INNEX  
Case Study
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Increase in Average eCPM as a Result of INNEX 

The Value Proposition

 

 

 
 

Auction technology, users of INNEX 

 

 

 

Boosting MeetMe’s  
Monetization

14%

22%

32%

42%

“One of the key technology differentiators of the Inneractive Exchange (INNEX) is its 

 Bill Alena, CRO at MeetMe

Inneractive’s Exchange INNEX  
Case Study
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SSP

AD  
NETWORKS

AD  
EXCHANGES

DSP

TRADING  
DESKS

AGENCIES

 

REVENUE FLOW REVENUE FLOW

 
 

DMP
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FROM ADVERTISERS TO PUBLISHERS TO USERS  

Understanding  
Ad Tech

 
— an Extract
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Media agencies  

 

Trading desks  

DSPs  
 

DMPs  

Ad networks  

Fraud 

Mobile  
targeting &    
attribution    

 
SSPs

 
 

DMPs  

Ad networks  

 

Demand  
fragmentation    

Technical  
integration  
hurdles   

Sub-par yield  
optimization  

Publisher ObjectivesAdvertiser Objectives

Understanding  
Ad Tech
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Example 1 

 

Ad Exchange

 

 

 
— 

 
 

 

 

Understanding  
Ad Tech

Bringing it all together
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O  

 

 
 

DSP A

DSP A

DSP B DSP C

 
 

Understanding  
Ad Tech

Understanding RTB

Example 2
How real-time bidding (RTB) works
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Market Development

 

 

 
 

1

2 
 

3  According to a new 

4 

  

 
 

5  

growth. 
 

6 

7 
 

8

 
 

 

1
2  
3  

4
5
6  

7
8

Report of the  
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Business Model & Products

 

Fyber - Neutral monetization technology  
for digital publishers 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

Strong Positioning in a 
Consolidating Market
 

 
 

 
 

9

 
 

10

 

 
 

■ 

11

■ 

■ 

Highly complementary ad tech assets

9 10 11

  
in-app

  

  

  

Fyber Platform Fyber RTB Inneractive

Complementary ad tech assets across platforms, ad formats and publisher verticals 
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■ 

■ 

 
 
■

 
 
■

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

Growth Strategy &  
Sustainability of the Business

12

 
 

 

Aspects & Milestones of Integration

 

■  
 

 

■ 

■ 

2015. 

Global scale & data power driving growth

Road to integration

12  

Publisher Reach

Free Publisher  
Platforms & Tools

Advertiser Reach

User Reach &  
Data Analytics

One  
Vision

One  
Brand

One  
Management

One  
Corporate  
Structure

One  
Product  
Offering

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3
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Investments &  
Technology
 

Product & Technology  
Highlights 2016

■ 

■ 

regular client

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

 

Strategic  
Developments
 

in April 2016. 
 

Integration of Fyber RTB  
(former Falk Realtime)

■ 

■ 

■ 

 

Acquisition of Heyzap Inc.

■ 

■  

■ 

 

for the group. 

Acquisition of Inneractive Ltd.

■ 

■ 

■ 

 

 

Convertible Bonds
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Audit and Basis of Presentation

Business Performance

Financial Results, Segmental Performance, 
Statutory Results, Strategic Development

Revenues, Gross Margin (€) and Gross Margin (%)

Financial Report

Revenue Variance vs. 2015 

120 

100 

80 

60 

40 

20 

0
 Dec-16
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for 2016 are provided.
to drive future accelerated growth through adoption of 

 

Monthly gross revenue by source Gross revenue by segment 

 
 

 

 Dec-16

 Dec-16  Dec-16

30 

25 

20 

15 

10 

5 

0

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Other OtherOW RV

 Dec-16

30 

25 

20 

15 

10 

5 

0
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Operating Expenses and Income

Inneractive and continued growth can have on the future 

in 2016.

 
 
 

Balance Sheet

Goodwill 

Monthly Gross Margin 
 

 Dec-16

8 

7 

6 

5 

4 

3 

2 

1 

0
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Cash Flow and Financial Position

 
 

 
 

Segmental Performance and Business Development

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

Going Concern Considerations

Subsequent Events

 
Acquisition update

 

Financing

■ 

■ 

■ 

Governance

Governance Code.

■ 

■ 

■ 
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■ 

Trading Update 2017

 
 

 
 

Risk Management

 

Approach to Risk Management

 
 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

 Risk Appetite and Impact

Category Description Appetite Impact Likelihood

Strategic 

Risk

 

Operational 

Risks

 

 

Financial 

Risks

 

Compliance 

Risks

 

 

Table risk overview

low high
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Strategic Risks

Fyber may be unable to adapt swiftly to changes in 
industry or market circumstances, which could have a 

results.

Strategic  
risk  

 
 

 
Operational  
risk

Financial  
risk   

 
 

 
 
Compliance  
risk   

Description of the risk categories

SPECIFIC RISKS

-

SPECIFIC RISKS

SPECIFIC RISKS

SPECIFIC RISKS

Market Risk – Failure to respond to market trends Failure to increase liquidity of the stock

Integration of acquired company – Failure to manage the move to one integrated  
ad tech company successfully / leverage synergies

Restructuring of Management Board – Failure to manage the change of management accordingly

RISK RESPONSE

  
 

 

 

 

RISK RESPONSE
 
 

   

-
 

RISK RESPONSE
 

 

 

RISK RESPONSE
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Operational and  

Technology Risks

The Fyber business depends on personnel, 
infrastructure, technology and customers. 

SPECIFIC RISKS

-

SPECIFIC RISKS

SPECIFIC RISKS

 

SPECIFIC RISKS

-

-

Infrastructure – Failure to secure functioning of the IT infrastructure

Technology – Failure to scale the Company’s technology platforms

Fraud - Failure to detect fraudulent activities

RISK RESPONSE

 

 

 

 
 

-

RISK RESPONSE

RISK RESPONSE

-

RISK RESPONSE

-
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Financial Risks

In the course of its ordinary business, Fyber is 

including liquidity risk, currency risk and credit risk. 
SPECIFIC RISKS

-

and revenue.

SPECIFIC RISKS

-

Personnel – Failure to attract, develop, retain and motivate talent

Technology – Open source software programs

RISK RESPONSE

 

RISK RESPONSE
-

-

SPECIFIC RISKS

SPECIFIC RISKS

-

-

Currency Risk – Failure to combat unfavorable movements in foreign currencies

Working capital risk - Seasonality of advertiser spending

RISK RESPONSE
-

RISK RESPONSE
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Legal and Compliance Risk

Fyber is exposed to non-compliance with various laws 

 

SPECIFIC RISK
-

-
-

RISK RESPONSE
-

-

SPECIFIC RISKS

-

-
-

SPECIFIC RISKS

-

 

SPECIFIC RISKS

-

Compliance risk – Failure to comply with relevant laws and regulations

Impairment risk - Failure to meet initial expectations

RISK RESPONSE

RISK RESPONSE

-

-

-

RISK RESPONSE
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Remuneration Report

Fixed remuneration

Performance-based remuneration

Long term incentive plan / Stock option plan

Retention bonus pool for Fyber management team

Deferred compensation as a result of reconciliation of 
the Fyber Virtual Share Program

 
 

 
 

Severance Arrangements
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Management Board Remuneration in 2016

Supervisory Board  
Remuneration in 2016

Management Board and Supervisory 
Board Members’ Shareholdings as of 31 
December 2016

page.

Fixed salary 
/ fee

Variable 
Bonus

VSP 
Program

Stock  
Option  

Program

Retention Social  
Security 

Contribution

Other  
emolments

Total

153 200 440 273 2 182

160 120 -70 225 8 2

250 25 0 168 0 4 65 512

 98 141 0 25 0 5 38 307

Total 661 486 2,393 563 498 19 287 4,907

Management Board Remuneration in 2016

Supervisory Board  
Remuneration in 2016

Management Board and Supervisory Board Members’ 
Shareholdings

 
 

Remuneration*

189

189 —

 52 —

 47

Crid Yu 52 —

 178 —

Total 707 100

 
31 Dec 2016

Number of  
Ordinar Shares

Number of  
Options over  

Ordinary Shares***

—

D. van Daele —

—

Total 5,015,177 6,950,000
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Personnel Report 

410 during 2016.

Average headcount for the 

410

Employees by functional area

Employees by geography 

PRODUCT,  ENGINEERING  
AND CORPORATE

SALES SALES

PRODUCT, ENGINEERING AND 
CORPORATE

SALES AND BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT

SALES AND BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT

Business & Business Operations TOTAL

Finance & Admin Technology

175

80 155

New York

20+
San Francisco

70+
Berlin

225+

Tel Aviv

75+
Beijing

10+

London

10+
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Outlook Responsibility Statement 

 

■ 

that

■ 

 
The Management Board 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Passion Team Spirit

Courage Excellence

Pragmatism Accountability

Fyber Values

Fyber Social Committee

--this document is signed digitally--



Fyber N.V. Annual Report 2016 61

Introduction & Company 
Structure

 

Corporate  
Governance Report

 

 

RNTS Media N.V.  

(The Netherlands)

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Company Structure 
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Corporate Governance 
Approach

 

Governance Bodies

external auditor.

The Management Board
Role & Procedure

the deciding vote.

Examples of internal control documents:

■ 

■  

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

Examples of external regulations  

■ Dutch Civil Code

■  

■ 

■ 

■  Dutch Corporate Governance Code in  
 

 

Shareholders and General Meeting

 

External Auditor

 

Supervisory Board

 

1. 
 

 
 
2. 

3. 

 
4. 

Management Board
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Composition Appointment, Dismissal & Suspension

Code.

appropriate. 

Remuneration

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

Andreas Bodczek  
CEO 

 
 

  
 1972 

 
 

Ziv Elul  
COO 

  
 1975 

 
 

Heiner Luntz  
CFO 

  
 1966 

 
 

Janis Zech  
 

  
 1984 
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The Supervisory Board & 
Report of the Supervisory 
Board
Role & Procedure

Meetings in 2016
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Composition & Committees

 

Dirk van Daele  
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 1961 

  
 

 
 

Thorsten Grenz 
 

 
 
 

  
 1958 

  
 

Guy Dubois 
 

 
 
 

  
 1958 

  
 

Jens Schumann 
 

 
 
 

  
 1973 
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Crid Yu  
 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 1969 

  
 

Ryan Kavanaugh 
 

 
 
 

  
 1974 

  
 

Rotation Schedule

Committees

 

 

 

 
 

 

 First  
appointment

Last  
re-appointment

Date of possible 
 Re-appointment1)

2013 2016 2020

2014 — 2018

2016 — 2020

2016 — 2020

2016 — 2020

2016 — 2018
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Self-assessment

Appointment, Dismissal & Suspension

Remuneration

Independence of Supervisory  
Board Members

Corporate Governance Code.

III.2.2. of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code during 

--this document is signed digitally--



Fyber N.V. Annual Report 2016Fyber N.V. Annual Report 2016 7574

Shares & Shareholders
Powers & Responsibility of Shareholders

Right to Vote

The General Meeting of Shareholders

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

■ 

Amendment of the Articles of Association

Other Shareholder Rights

Issue of Shares Independent External  
Auditor

Role & Remuneration

view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
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In accordance with the Dutch Corporate Governance 

Internal Audit Function

Compliance with the Dutch 
Corporate Governance Code

■ 

Dutch Corporate Governance Code.

■ 

 
 
■

 
 
■

 
 
■

 
A  Deviation in order to honor existing agreements 

B  Deviation because of the nature and purpose of  
the Stock Option Plan 

■   Best practice provision III.3.1 (Expertise and 
composition of the Supervisory Board members) 

■   Best practice provision III.4.3 (Corporate secretary) 

■   Best practice provision III.5.3 (Committee reports) 

■  

■   Best practice provision IV.3.3. (Analysts’ reports) 

■    Other provisions 
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Corporate Governance 
Statement

■   

■   

■   

■   

■   
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Capital Structure

Changes in share capital

review.

Share developments

during 2016.

Key Fyber share data 

 
2016 2015

€0.10 €0.10

€2.10 €3.00

High €3.40 €3.80

 €1.49 €2.40
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Major Shareholders

reached or exceeded.

Shareholders  
registered above 3% % of voting rights
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UNAUDITED PRO-FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016 
Fyber N.V. 

PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT1 

FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

   1 Jan – 1 Jan – 1 Jan –  1 Jan – 1 Jan – 1 Jan – 

EUR k  
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2016   
31 Dec 

2015 
31 Dec 

2015 
31 Dec 

2015 
   Adjusted Separately Reported  Adjusted Separately Reported 
   results disclosed results  results disclosed results 
    items    items  
          
          
Revenue  218,120 0 218,120  129,120 0 129,120 
Revenue share to third parties  -155,703 0 -155,703  -88,384 0 -88,384 
Gross Margin (EUR)  62,417 0 62,417  40,736 0 40,736 

          
Other operating income  5,735 8,890 14,625  5,048 0 5,048 
Personnel costs  -37,691 -3,270 -40,961  -31,878 -3,087 -34,965 
Other operating expenses  -36,244 -4,909 -41,153  -26,047 -2,915 -28,962 
EBITDA  -5,783 711 -5,072  -12,141 -6,002 -18,143 

          
Depreciation, amortization and impairment  -4,048 -7,749 -11,797  -1,551 -7,795 -9,346 
EBIT  -9,831 -7,038 -16,869  -13,692 -13,797 -27,489 

          
Finance income  188 0 188  146 0 146 
Finance expenses  -9,388 -4,157 -13,545  -6,247 0 -6,247 

Loss for the year before tax  -19,031 -11,195 -30,226  -19,793 -13,797 -33,590 
          

Income tax expense  -3,096 0 -3,096  4,844 739 5,583 
 -22,127 -11,195 -33,322  -14,949 -13,058 -28,007 

          
Loss for the year from discontinued 
operations after tax 0 3,383 3,383  0 -14,409 -14,409 

          
Loss for the year after tax  -22,127 -7,812 -29,939  -14,949 -27,467 -42.416 

          
Profit / loss attributable to:         
 Owners of the parent  -22,127 -7,812 -29,939  -14,949 -27,467 -42,416 

 Non-controlling interest  0 0 0  0 0 0 

   -22,127 -7,812 -29,939  -14,949 -27,467 -42,416 

          
Earnings per share         
          
Basic loss per share (EUR)  -0.20 -0.06 -0.26  -0.13 -0.24 -0.37 
Diluted loss per share (EUR)  -0.19 -0.06 -0,25  -0.13 -0.22 -0.35 
 
   
 

1The pro forma income statement is intended to illustrate how the income statement 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2016 would have been affected if Inneractive 
and Heyzap would have been acquired as per 1 Jan 2015. This pro forma income statement has not been reviewed or audited by Grant Thornton. 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 
 

 
   1 Jan – 1 Jan – 1 Jan –  1 Jan – 1 Jan – 1 Jan – 

EUR k Notes 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2016   
31 Dec 

2015 
31 Dec 

 2015 
31 Dec 

2015 
   Adjusted Separately Reported  Adjusted Separately Reported 
   results disclosed results1  results disclosed results1 
    items    items  
Revenue 7 176,786 0 176,786  81,076 0 81,076 
Revenue share to third parties  -128,551 0 -128,551  -56,739 0 -56,739 

Gross Margin (EUR)  48,235 0 48,235  24,337 0 24,337 
          

Other operating income 8 5,734 8,890 14,624  4,936 0 4,936 
Personnel costs 9 -32,996 -2,354 -35,350  -22,975 -2,635 -25,610 
Other operating expenses 10 -31,857 -4,226 -36,083  -20,038 -2,915 -22,953 

EBITDA  -10,884 2,310 -8,574  -13,740 -5,550 -19,290 
          

Depreciation, amortization and 
impairment 11 -4,000 -5,286 -9,286  -1,456 -2,469 -3,925 

EBIT  -14,884 -2,976 -17,860  -15,196 -8,019 -23,215 
          

Finance income  187 0 187  146 0 146 
Finance expenses 12 -9,216 -201 -9,417  -3,543 0 -3,543 
Loss for the year before tax  -23,913 -3,177 -27,090  -18,593 -8,019 -26,612 

          
Income tax gain (expense)  13 -2,148 0 -2,148  2,348 739 3,087 
Loss for the year from continuing operations -26,061 -3,177 -29,238  -16,245 -7,280 -23,525 

          
Profit (loss) for the year from discontinued 
operations after tax 0 3,383 3,383  0 -14,409 -14,409 

          
Loss for the year after tax  -26,061 206 -25,855  -16,245 -21,689 -37,934 

          
Profit / loss attributable to:         
 Owners of the parent  -26,061 206 -25,855  -16,245 -21,689 -37,934 

 Non-controlling interest  0 0 0  0 0 0 

   -26,061 206 -25,855  -16,245 -21,689 -37,934 

          
Earnings per share 15        
For discontinued operations         
Basic loss per share (EUR)  0,00 0,03 0,03 -0.00 -0.12 -0.12 
Diluted loss per share (EUR)  0,00 0,03 0,03 -0.00 -0.12 -0.12 
For total operations         
Basic loss per share (EUR)  -0,23 0,00 -0,23  -0.14 -0.19 -0.33 
Diluted loss per share (EUR)  -0,22 0,00 -0,22  -0.14 -0.18 -0.32 
 

                                                
1 The Reported results represent IFRS figures.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

 
EUR k Notes 31 Dec 2016  31 Dec 2015  1 Jan 2015 

     Restated1)  Restated1) 
Non-current assets       
Intangible assets       
 Goodwill 17 216,951  144,176  144,383 
 Other intangible assets 18 40,039  13,753  15,346 
Property and equipment 19 1,940  2,195  674 
Non-current financial assets 20 504  690  12,749 
Deferred tax assets  25 0  0  0 

   259,434  160,814  173,152 
Current assets       
Inventories 21 271  408  556 
Trade and other receivables 22 63,539  24,313  16,964 
Other current financial assets  23 16,292  14,992  18,209 
Other current assets 24 1,109  901  282 
Cash and cash equivalents 26 24,982  79,123  12,078 

   106,193  119,737  48,089 
Assets held for sale  0  618  0 

   106,193  120,355  48,089 
Total Assets  365,627  281,169  221,241 

        
Equity       
Issued capital 27.1 11,453  11,453  11,453 
Share Premium 27.1 184,812  184,812  184,782 
Treasury Shares 27.2 -5,049  0  0 
Other capital reserves 27.3 17,518  13,366  3,021 
Legal reserve 27.4 4,259  3,965  3,037 
Accumulated deficit 27.5 -96,093  -69,944  -31,075 
Foreign currency translation reserve 27.6 3,544  1,197  818 
Equity attributable to shareholders of the 
company  120,444  144,849  172,036 
Non-controlling interests  0  0  -20 
Total equity  120,444  144,849  172,016 

        
Non-current liabilities       
Long-term employee benefits liabilities 28 429  613  12,589 
Long-term borrowings 29 136,642  88,572  2,869 
Deferred tax liabilities 25 4,054  0  249 
Other non-current liabilities 30 9,425  68  0 

   150,550  89,253  15,707 
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables 31 78,059  24,929  14,271 
Short-term employee benefits liabilities 28 14,001  17,473  10,055 
Short-term borrowings 32 1,429  0  8,912 
Other current liabilities 33 479  163  71 
Income tax payables  570  908  209 
Short-term provisions 34 95  598  0 

   94,633  44,071  33,518 
Liabilities directly associated with the assets 
held for sale  0  2,996  0 

   94,633  47,067  33,518 
Total liabilities  245,183  136,320  49,225 
Total equity and liabilities  365,627  281,169  221,241 
 
 
1) Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2015 financial statements and reflect adjustments made (note 2.5). 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

 
   1 Jan – 1 Jan – 1 Jan –  1 Jan – 1 Jan – 1 Jan – 

EUR k Notes 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2016   
31 Dec 

2015 
31 Dec 

2015 
31 Dec 

2015 
   Adjusted Separately Reported  Adjusted Separately Reported 

    disclosed results1   disclosed results1 
    items    items  
          

Loss for the year after tax  -26,061 206 -25,855  -16,245 -21,689 -37,934 
          

To be reclassified to profit and 
loss in subsequent periods 

       
Exchange differences on currency 
translation 14 2,347 0 2,347  379 0 379 
Income tax effect  0 0 0  0 0 0 

   2,347 0 2,347  379 0 379 
          

       
Actuarial gains on defined benefit plans  0 0 0  -7 0 -7 
Income tax effect  0 0 0  0 0 0 

   0 0 0  -7 0 -7 
          
          

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax 2,347 0 2,347  372 0 372 

             
Total comprehensive income for the 
year  -23,714 206 -23,508  -15,873 -21,689 -37,562 

          
          
Total comprehensive income attributable 
to:         
 Owners of the parent  -23,714 206 -23,508  -15,873 -21,689 -37,562 

 Non-controlling interest  0 0 0  0 0 0 

   -23,714 206 -23,508  -15,873 -21,689 -37,562 

 
 
 
 

                                                
1 The Reported results represent IFRS figures. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

 

 

 

   1 Jan -  1 Jan – 
EUR k  Notes 31 Dec 2016  31 Dec 2015 

      
Loss for the year before tax  -27,090  -26,612 

      
Non-cash items     
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 11 9,286  3,925 
Financial income and expenses 12 9,229  3,397 
Cash flow from discontinued operations 6 -1,254  -402 
Other non-cash effects  460  5,551 
Reimbursement of Virtual Share Program by former 
Fyber shareholders  4,624  6,194 
Changes in provisions, employee benefit obligations  -5,084  -3,891 
Changes in working capital  -5,494  954 
Cash generated from operations  -15,323,  -10,884 
Interest received  188  145 
Interest paid  -6,619  -1,186 
Income tax paid  -380  -690 
Net cash flow from operating activities   -22,134  -12,615 

      
Purchases of property and equipment 19 -461  -3,481 
Purchases, capitalization of intangible assets 18 -4,949  -2,840 
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired  -70,182  -10,455 
Change in financial assets, net  -4,673  9,099 
Cash flow from discontinued operations  0  -703 
Net cash flow from investing activities  -80,265  -8,380 

      
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 29 50,014  115,000 
Transaction costs on the issue of convertible bonds 4 -1,198  -1,227 
Repayment of long-term borrowings 29 0  -15,000 
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 32 0  1,500 
Repayment of short-term borrowings 32 -831  -11,783 
Net cash flow from financing activities   47,985  88,490 

      
Net changes in cash  -54,414  67,495 

      
Cash at beginning of period 26 79,123  12,078 
Net foreign exchange difference  273  31 
Net changes in cash  -54,414  67,495 
Cash presented in assets held for sale 26 0  -481 

      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 26 24,982  79,123 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 
 

 
 Notes   Equity attributable to owners of the parent   

EUR k 

 

Ordinary 
shares 

Share 
premium 

Treasury 
shares 

Other 
capital 

reserves 

 
 
 

Legal 
Reserve 

Accumul- 
ated deficit 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Total 
equity 

Non-
control-

ling 
interest 

Total 
equity 

                
                
01 Jan 2016 27 11,453 184,812 0 13,366 3,965 -69,944 1,197 144,849 0 144,849 

                 
Loss for the year after tax  0 0 0 0 564 -29,531 0 -29,238 0 -29,238 
Profit (loss) for the year 
from discontinued 
operations after tax  0 0 0 0 0 3,383 0 3,383 0 3,383 
Other comprehensive 
income for the period, net of 
tax  0 0 0 0 0 0 2,347 2,347 0 2,347 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year  0 0 0 0 293 -25,148 2,347 -23,508 0 -23,508 

            
Share-based payments 9 0 0 0 1,715 0 0 0 1,715 0 1,715 
Acquisition of treasury 
shares  0 0 -5,049 0 0 0 0 -5,049 0 -5,049 
Equity component of the 
convertible bond, net of tax 4 0 0 0 2,437 0 0 0 2,437 0 2,437 

Transactions with owners  0 0 -5,049 4,152 0 0 0 -897 0 -897 
            

31 Dec 2016  11,453 184,812 -5,049 17,518 4,259 -96,093 3,544 120,444 0 120,444 
            
            
                

01 Jan 2015 27 11,453 184,782 0 3,021 3,037 -31,075 818 172,036 -20 172,016 
                 

Loss for the period after tax  0 0 0 0 928 -24,454 0 -23,525 0 -23,525 
Loss for the year from 
discontinued operations 
after tax  0 0 0 0 0 -14,409 0 -14,409 0 -14,409 
Other comprehensive 
income for the period, net of 
tax  0 0 0 0 0 -7 379 372 0 372 
Total comprehensive 
income for the period  0 0 0 0 0 -38,870 379 -37,562 0 -37,562 

            
Acquisition of a subsidiary  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 20 
Share-based payments  0 0 0 2,635 0 0 0 2,635 0 2,635 
Discount on low-interest 
shareholder loans  0 30 0 0 0 0 0 30 0 30 
Equity component of the 
convertible bond, net of tax  0 0 0 7,710 0 0 0 7,710 0 7,710 

Transactions with owners  0 30 0 10,345 0 0 0 10,375 20 10,395 
            

31 Dec 2015  11,453 184,812 0 13,366 3,965 -69,944 1,197 144,849 0 144,849 
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indirectly, by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if it has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the 
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee) 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee, and 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its 
returns 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar 
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over the investee, 
including: 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of 
the investee 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

• The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights 

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts 
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary 
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of the subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the statement of 
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until 
the date it ceases to control the subsidiary. 

The financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries were 
prepared as at 31 December 2016, the same balance sheet date 
as the parent company. The financial statements of the subsidiaries 
are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, 
using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, 
transactions, unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the 
equity holders of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, 
even if that results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss 
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the 
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling 
interests and other components of equity while any resultant gain 
or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any investment retained is 
recognized at fair value. 

For all of its subsidiaries Fyber NV has control over all voting rights 
as of 31 December 2016. However, for up to 50% of the voting 
rights in Fyber GmbH there is a “fall back right” in favor of the former 
shareholder of Fyber GmbH (the “option”). The option exists since 
February 2016 but has not yet been exercised. Management 
assumes, that this option will not be exercised as it would not be in 
the best economic interest of the former Fyber shareholders, 
Exercising the fall back right would lead to a disruption in the 

integrated business between Heyzap and Fyber GmbH (CGU 
Fyber platform), create the need for additional financing to be 
provided by the former Fyber shareholders and reduce the 
likelihood of success of the Fyber NV group in the market, thus 
reducing the overall value. Therefore, the likelihood of the option 
being exercised is considered to be very low and the option is not 
seen as a substantive right. In consequence, Fyber NV is seen as 
the only entity having control over Fyber GmbH (and its 
subsidiaries). 

2.4. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The following significant accounting and valuation principles were 
applied uniformly across Fyber Group to prepare the financial 
statements. 

2.4.1. Business combinations and goodwill 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate 
of the consideration transferred, measured at fair value at 
acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects 
whether it measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and 
included in other operating expenses. When the Group acquires a 
business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed 
for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with 
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation 
of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will 
be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent 
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial 
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognized either in profit or loss or as change 
to OCI. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of 
IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-
measured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognized for non-controlling interest over the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this 
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in the income 
statement. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective 
of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to 
those units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and 
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on 
disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. Corporate information 

Fyber N.V. (formerly RNTS Media N.V.) is building a global provider 
for Advertising Technology (AdTech) with significant growth 
potential by acquiring and expanding relevant companies and 
technologies. Its principal activities are currently provided through 
different platforms. In 2016 Heyzap was acquired in January and 
Inneractive Ltd. in July. 

Fyber, headquartered in Germany, has developed a mobile 
advertising technology platform on which the Company’s growth 
strategy is based. Fyber's supply-side platform helps app 
developers and publishers monetize their traffic more effectively. 
Fyber's platform comprises amongst others an ad exchange, an ad 
server and a mediation layer which provides app developers and 
publishers easier access to a wide range of demand-side partners 
(predominantly from the mobile gaming space) and advertisers. It 
also offers software-based solutions (like real-time bidding and 
programmatic trading, ad analytics & reporting, yield optimization, 
ad stack management, audience segmentation tools) to increase 
performance. Fyber also has direct sales and provides consulting 
services to its partners to help them optimizing the capitalization of 
their customer base. 

Heyzap Inc., San Francisco, USA, has been acquired on 7 January 
2016. Heyzap complements Fyber’s global activities by offering a 
mobile monetization platform that operates a Mediation layer, ad 
exchange and cross-promotion functionalities. Over the course of 
2016, Heyzap’s monetization platform has been integrated with 
Fyber’s platform, adding relevant mobile ad formats and creating 
an even more robust suite of mobile app monetization tools. 

Inneractive Ltd. headquartered in Tel Aviv, Israel, has been 
acquired on 19 July 2016. Inneractive is an independent global 
mobile real-time bidding ad exchange and supply side platform 
focused on powering native and video ads. The company’s mission 
is to empower mobile publishers to maximize the full potential of 
their ad inventories by providing powerful technologies for buying 
and selling mobile ads. Inneractive has offices in San Francisco, 
New York, London and Beijing. 

The Company's shares are traded on the Prime Standard of the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the ISIN code NL0010315453.  

Fyber is incorporated in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, and is 
registered with the Dutch Chamber of Commerce under the number 
54747805. The Company’s head-office is at Johannisstraße 20, 
10117 Berlin, Germany.  

The financial statements of Fyber and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
the Group) have been signed by the Management and Supervisory 
Board Members on 25 July 2017 and adopted for publication. 

2. Accounting policies 

2.1. Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the financial 

reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code at the balance sheet date.   

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis, which assumes the realization of assets and 
the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. 
Please refer to note 2.2. for further details. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the full year 2016. 
The consolidated financial statements provide comparative 
information in respect of the previous period from 1 January 2015 
to 31 December 2015.  

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Euro, which is also the parent company’s functional currency. All 
figures are stated in thousands of Euro (EUR k) unless otherwise 
indicated. Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand Euro 
which may cause rounding differences. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial 
instruments. 

The consolidated income statement is presented closely aligned to 
the nature of expense method. 

2.2. Going concern considerations 

In 2016, the Group continued to operate with losses, caused 
primarily by the further investment into its technology platforms, 
regional and customer segment expansion for organic growth and 
acquisitions. The necessary financing was secured from a tap issue 
of EUR k 50,000 on the EUR k 100,000 Convertible Bonds initially 
placed in 2015. 

The business concept is based on revenue growth with under 
proportionate growth in the cost base – thus allowing the company 
to scale into profitability in the future. For 2017 management is 
expecting to reach a positive adjusted EBITDA after the first quarter 
of the year and for the full year. 

In 2017, the operating cash flow is expected to improve further vs. 
2016 (EUR k -18,404) but still stay negative. This is caused by 
improved operations with some offset due to higher working capital 
needs due to the expanded business volume. The high negative 
investing cash flow of 2016 (EUR k -83,995) will be reduced as no 
new acquisitions are planned. At the same time, earn-out payments 
for both Heyzap (expected USD k 5,000 or less) and Inneractive 
(USD k 9,800) will still need to be made.  

At 31 December 2016, the Group showed EUR k 24,982 in cash. 
Management had announced in Q3 2016 to explore all options for 
additional financing. Subsequently, in May 2017 a working capital 
facility of EUR k 7,500 for Fyber Platform has been secured. In 
addition in June 2017 Bank Leumi (ISL) has provided a rolling credit 
facility for USD k 18,000 through Inneractive. This facility allows for 
up-streaming to other group companies for operating and earn-out 
purposes. Please refer to note 46.2 for further details.  

Management therefore has reasonable expectation that Fyber 
Group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern for 
the foreseeable future.  

2.3. Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of Fyber N.V. and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 
2016. Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled, directly or 
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Interest income and expense is recorded using the effective 
interest method with exception of borrowing costs capitalized 
according to IAS 23. In 2016 there were no qualifying assets, so 
that all interest expenses recorded in the P/L. 

Income and expenses are not offset unless gains and losses arise 
from a group of similar transactions unless they are material. For 
this reason, gains and losses from foreign currency transactions 
and revaluations are not offset and shown separately in other 
operating income and other operating expenses. 

2.4.5. Personnel costs 

2.4.5.1. Short-term personnel costs 

Short-term personnel costs are expensed as the related service is 
provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be 
paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service by the employee and 
the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

2.4.5.2. Share-appreciation rights (SARs) 
The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of 
share appreciation rights (SARs), which are settled in cash, is 
recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in 
liabilities, over the period during which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at 
each reporting date and at settlement date based on the fair value 
of the SARs. Any changes in the liability are recognized in profit or 
loss. 

Fyber GmbH issued SAR’s in the past. The underlying program has 
been closed, triggered by the acquisition of Fyber GmbH through 
Fyber NV in 2014. The purchase price of this acquisition was the 
last measurement value for the program and determined the liability 
rising from the SARs taken into account 2014. In 2016 only 
payments on the liabilities occurred and there were no effects on 
profit or loss. 

2.4.5.3. Stock option program 

The fair value of stock options which are granted to employees and 
which are settled in shares in Fyber N.V., is recognized as an 
expense with a corresponding increase in capital reserves. The 
expenses are recorded over the vesting period, the time in which 
the employees become unconditionally entitled to the right to 
acquire shares in the parent company at a fixed price. The fair value 
of the options is not re-measured but changes in the employees’ 
structure during the vesting period are recognized in profit or loss. 
A forfeiture of options after they have vested has no effect on the 
Group accounts. 

2.4.5.4. Defined contribution plan  

The Group periodically contributes to pension plans operated by 
governmental or private companies and recognizes related 
expenses while the employees are employed. The contribution 
made by the company in excess of the required funding amount is 
recorded as pension asset whereas the contribution amount that 
falls short of the required funding amount is recorded as pension 
liabilities. 

2.4.6. Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is 
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognized directly in equity or in OCI. 

 

2.4.6.1. Current income tax  

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted at 
the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and 
generates taxable income. 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations 
are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate. 

2.4.6.2. Deferred taxes  
Deferred taxes are recognized to account for the future tax effects 
of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements, and for tax loss carry-forwards, using the liability 
method. Deferred taxes are measured on the basis of the tax laws 
already enacted or substantially enacted for those fiscal years in 
which it is probable that the differences will reverse or the tax loss 
carry-forwards can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are recognized 
for temporary differences or tax loss carry-forwards only when the 
ability to utilize them in the near future appears to be reasonably 
certain. Deferred taxes are also recognized for temporary 
differences resulting from the fair value measurement of assets and 
liabilities obtained through business combinations. Deferred taxes 
relating to goodwill are recognized for temporary differences only 
when the goodwill can be utilized for tax purposes.  

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
income tax liabilities and deferred taxes related to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority. 

2.4.7. Intangible assets 

Purchased intangible assets are measured at cost. Intangible 
assets that have a determinable useful life are amortized over their 
expected useful lives using the straight-line method, starting from 
the time when they become available for use by the Group.  

Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred. 

Development expenditure is capitalized only if the expenditure can 
be measured reliably, the product is technically and commercially 
feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the Group 
intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development 
and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognized in profit or 
loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, development 
expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

Borrowing costs which are directly associated with the 
development of software that takes a substantial period of time 
(qualifying assets) are included in the cost of production until the 
assets in question are ready for their intended use. 

The details of amortization are as follows: 
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based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

2.4.2. Foreign currencies 
The functional currency of the parent of the Group is Euro, which is 
also the currency in which the Group prepares its financial reports. 
For each entity the Group determines the functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency. 

2.4.2.1. Transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the 
Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot rates of 
exchange at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at 
the reporting date.  

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items 
are recognized in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items 
that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net 
investment of a foreign operation. These are recognized in OCI 
until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative 
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits 
attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are 
also recorded in OCI. 

2.4.2.2. Group companies 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are 
translated into Euro at the rate of exchange prevailing at the 
reporting date and their income statements are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The 
exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a 
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the 
income statement. 

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and 
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the spot rate of 
exchange at the reporting date. 

The exchange rates of foreign currencies to Euro, that are 
significant for Fyber Group, were subject to the following changes: 

Foreign 
currency 
per EUR 

Exchange rate at 
balance sheet date 

Average exchange 
rate 

  
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 2016 2015 

US Dollar 1.05 1.09 1.11 1.11 
 

2.4.3. Accounting for separately disclosed items 
In order to present the performance of the Group in a clear, 
consistent and comparable format, certain items are disclosed 
separately in the Income Statement.  

Separately disclosed items include:  

• One-off costs from restructuring, reorganization and 
integration;  

• Non-cash accounting charges for stock options, warrants; 

• Impairment of goodwill, amortization of acquired intangible 
assets;  

• Transaction costs related to acquisitions; 

• Income from reversal of such costs; 

• Discontinued operations 

• Other non-recurring income and costs for all Group 
companies;  

• And all the related tax effects of the items listed above.  

Restructuring and reorganization costs, such as reducing overhead 
and consolidating facilities, are included in the Separately 
Disclosed Items as Management believes that these effects are not 
indicative of the normal operating income and expenses.  

Certain gains/losses are also disclosed separately, as they are 
either isolated or cannot be expected to occur again with any 
regularity or predictability and therefore Management believes that 
they are not indicative of the normal operating gains and losses. 
These include for example, gains or losses from items such as the 
sale of a business or real estate, gains or losses on significant 
litigation-related matters and discontinued operations. 

Separately disclosed items also include non-cash accounting 
charges for stock options, warrants, impairment of goodwill, and 
amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of a business 
combination as well as income from reversal of such costs as all 
these transactions are without cash impact in the consolidated 
financial statements. Furthermore, the amortization of acquired 
intangible assets is included because a significant portion of the 
purchase price for acquisitions may be allocated to intangible 
assets.  

Lastly, discontinued operations are disclosed separately. 

Management believes that the separate disclosure of these items 
enhances investors' understanding of the company’s core 
operating results and future prospects and allows better 
comparisons of operating results that are consistent over time and 
with peer companies. Separately disclosed items are not defined 
by IFRS and are based on management’s judgement. 

2.4.4. Recognition of income and expenses 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefit will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured, regardless of when payment is being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of 
payment and excluding taxes or duties. 

The service revenue from delivering advertising services is 
recognized when the service is rendered. This usually occurs when 
the ad impression was generated which is the ad is fetched from its 
source and served on the user’s device. Depending on the 
requirements of the specific campaign, further requirements might 
need to be fulfilled such as the device user has clicked on the ad, 
downloaded specific content, provided personal data etc. 

Other income is recognized when the future inflow of economic 
benefits from the transaction can be measured reliably and was 
received by the company during the reporting period. 

Operating expenses are recognized either when the corresponding 
goods are received or services are rendered. 
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2.4.11.2. Loans, receivables and other financial assets 

Upon initial recognition, loans, receivables, and other financial 
assets are measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost, after 
deduction of any write-downs, using the effective interest method. 
A write-down is taken when objective indications suggest that the 
receivable may not be fully collectible. Such an indication might be 
the insolvency or other considerable financial problems of the 
debtor. The amount of the write-down is measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows from this 
receivable, discounted by using the original effective interest rate. 
Write-downs are charged against income both in the form of an 
account for allowances on doubtful accounts and by means of 
direct write-downs. The account for allowances on doubtful 
accounts is used for allowances on doubtful trade receivables. If, in 
subsequent periods, the fair value has objectively risen, the write-
downs are reversed and recognized in income in the appropriate 
amounts. 

2.4.11.3. Borrowings and other financial liabilities  

Borrowings and other non-derivative financial liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost by application of the effective interest 
method. Gains and losses are recognized in the income statement 
when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the 
effective interest rate amortization process. Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization is included in 
finance costs in the income statement. 

Compound financial instruments like convertible bonds low interest 
shareholder loans, which include a liability as well as an equity 
component, are recognized separately with each component. The 
equity is the remainder of the fair value of the whole instrument at 
issue date less the fair value of the liability component determined 
by applying market interest rate for comparable debt without any 
equity component. Transaction costs on the issue of such financial 
instruments are allocated on a pro rata basis to each of the 
components and respectively deducted.  

2.5. Changes in accounting policies and 
disclosures 

In order to increase clarity, the composition of the other current 
assets and other current liabilities was adjusted compared to prior 
years. 

From 2016 onwards, other current assets include only non-
monetary items such as prepaid expenses. As of 31 December 
2015, other receivables amounting to EUR k 1,153 (1 January 
2015: EUR k 521), mainly from VAT were presented in this line 
item. These are now shown in trade and other receivables. 

The same differentiation is made for current liabilities. From 2016 
onwards, only non-monetary items like deferred income is included 
in the line item other current liabilities. As of 31 December 2015, 
other liabilities amounting to EUR k 3,197 (1 January 2015: 
EUR k 1,206) were presented in this category such as accrued 
interest on the convertible bonds as well as outstanding payments 
to social contribution. These items are now shown in the line item 
trade and other payables. 

The prior year numbers have been adjusted respectively. 

Further, an amount of EUR k 4,259 (31 December 2015: 
EUR k 3,965) was recognized as legal reserve for self-developed 
intangible assets (note 27.4). 

2.6. Accounting estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
presentation of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well 
as the reported amounts and presentation of income and expenses 
during the period. Management based its assumptions and 
estimates on past experience and on other factors including the 
prevailing economic environment available when the consolidated 
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments, however, may change 
due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control 
of the Group. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates 
under different assumptions and conditions. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below. 

Information regarding the carrying amounts determined with the 
use of estimates can be found in the comments on the specific line 
items. 

2.6.1. Measurement of fair values 
A number of accounting policies and disclosures require the 
determination of the fair value of the Group for financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. 

To determine the fair value of assets and liabilities, the Group uses 
observable market data as far as possible. If such inputs are not 
available, the management defines appropriate valuation methods 
and input parameters. Based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques, the fair values are classified in different levels in the fair 
value hierarchy: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability 
fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value 
measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the 
fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the 
entire measurement. 

The Group recognizes reclassifications in different levels of the fair 
value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period in which the 
change occurred. 

2.6.2. Revenue recognition  

The recognition of revenue involves certain estimates with respect 
to, for instance, discounts. The Group regularly reviews the 
appropriateness of its assumptions. 

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 
 

 
Useful life 
in years 

Amortization 
method used 

Internally 
generated 

or 
acquired 

Software 3 - 5 Straight Line Acquired 

Customer 
contracts 

Contract 
Period Straight Line Acquired 

Digital content 3 Straight Line Acquired 

Development 
costs 6 Straight Line Acquired 

Development 
costs 3 Straight Line 

Internally 
generated 

Others 3 - 6 Straight Line Acquired 

Goodwill - 
Impairment 
Test Acquired 

 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life such as goodwill are 
not amortized. At the reporting date, the use of these assets by the 
Group is not limited by any economic or legal restrictions. 

An intangible asset is derecognized upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the assets) are recognized in the income statement. 

2.4.8. Property and equipment  

Property and equipment are measured at cost and are depreciated 
over their expected useful lives using the straight-line method. For 
purposes of depreciation, the following useful lives are applied: 

 
Useful life in 

years 
Depreciation 
method used 

Leaseholds improvements 2 - 3 Straight Line 

Other operational and 
office equipment 

3 - 13 Straight Line 

Property and equipment are derecognized upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
Any gains or losses on the disposal of property and equipment 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the assets) are recognized in the 
income statement. 

2.4.9. Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a 
lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception 
date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the 
use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an 
arrangement. 

The Group classifies and accounts for leases as either a finance or 
operating lease, depending on the terms. Leases where the Group 
assumes substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases. 

Lease obligations under operating leases are recognized as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which 
they are incurred. 

As per the reporting date, the Group has not entered into lease 
contracts that qualify as finance lease. 

2.4.10. Impairment of intangible assets and property and 
equipment  

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group 
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) 
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 
other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an 
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs 
of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if 
available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used.  

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not 
amortized, but will be tested for impairment annually and when 
circumstances indicate that they may be impaired.  

A previously recognized impairment loss for assets excluding 
goodwill will be reversed when the recoverable amount exceeds 
the carrying amount of the asset again. The reversal is limited to 
the amount which would have resulted if previous impairment 
losses had not been recognized. A recognized impairment loss in 
goodwill will not be reversed. 

2.4.11. Financial assets and liabilities  

The Group’s financial assets are mainly composed of cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and other financial 
assets. Financial liabilities are mainly composed of trade and other 
payables and loans and borrowings. 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired or have 
been transferred to third parties, or when the Group has assumed 
a contractual obligation to pay the received cash flows immediately 
to a third party, under which substantially all the risks and rewards 
or the power of control were transferred. A financial liability is 
derecognized when the obligation underlying the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or has expired. 

2.4.11.1. Cash and cash equivalents 

The cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position 
consist of cash in banks and cash on hand and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less. 

For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined 
above. 
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IFRS 2 (Amended) 
Classification and 
Measurement of Share-Based 
Payment Transactions 

IFRS 4 (Amended) Applying IFRS 9 with IFRS 4 

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers and Clarifications 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions 
and Advance Consideration 

Effective date: 1 January 2019 

IFRS 16 Leases 
 

3. Companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements  

The scope of consolidation, including Fyber N.V. as parent 
company, comprises fifteen fully consolidated companies. The 
subsidiaries and participations are as follows: 

No. Company 
Country of 
incorporation 

% 
equity 
interest 

1 Fyber N.V. The Netherlands  

Fully consolidated subsidiaries 

2 Advertile Mobile GmbH1) Germany 100.00 

3 AppMarie UG Germany 100.00 

4 Falk Realtime Ltd.2) United Kingdom 100.00 

5 Fyber GmbH1) Germany 100.00 

6 Fyber Inc. USA 100.00 

7 Fyber Media GmbH1) Germany 100.00 

8 Fyber RTB GmbH1) Germany 100.00 

9 Heyzap Inc. USA  

10 Inneractive Ltd. Israel 100.00 

11 Inneractive Europe Ltd. United Kingdom 100.00 

12 Inneractive USA Inc. USA 100.00 

13 RNTS Germany Holding 
GmbH1) 

Germany 100.00 

14 RNTS Media 
Deutschland GmbH 

Germany 100.00 

15 SponsorPay K.K. Japan 100.00 

16 SponsorPay Korea Co., 
Ltd. 

Republic of 
Korea 

100.00 

 

1) Companies use the exemption of section 264 (3) HGB 
(German Commercial Code). Therefore, the companies 
do not publish separate financial statements or have 
these audited. 

2) Fyber N.V. has provided a parental guarantee under 
section 479C of the Companies Act in respect of its 
subsidiary undertaking Falk Realtime Limited. Falk 

Realtime Limited is exempt from having its individual 
accounts audited by virtue of section 479A of the 
Companies Act. 

In January 2016, Heyzap Inc., USA, was acquired (note 5.2.). 

The investment in Big Star Global Ltd., in 2015 already treated as 
discontinued operations, was successfully sold in April 2016 
(note 6.). In July 2016, the Group acquired Inneractive Ltd. 
including its subsidiary Inneractive USA Inc. and Inneractive 
Europe Ltd. (note 5.3.).  

As previously reported in the prospectus for the listing in Frankfurt 
and the 2015 annual report, the acquisition of Fyber GmbH in 2014 
was mostly paid in shares of Fyber N.V. (46,000,000 shares 
representing EUR k 138,000 out of a total of EUR k 150,000). 
Sapinda Asia Ltd. granted the sellers of Fyber a total of 4 put 
options against these shares, of which 3 have been honored but 1 
for 23,000,000 shares due and exercised in February 2016 was not 
fulfilled. The Fyber sellers and Sapinda Asia Ltd., represented by 
Lars Windhorst, have subsequently repeatedly tried to agree on a 
solution but until today have not been successful in doing so. The 
ultimate remedy for the Fyber sellers, should no solution be found, 
is the exercise of a “fall-back” right, under which they would pro-
rata reverse the 2014 transaction and become shareholders with 
some special rights in Fyber GmbH again. Since 2016 and until 
today the Fyber sellers have not exercised this “fall-back” right. The 
parties involved are still trying to come to a mutual agreement. Until 
the “fall-back” is exercised, Fyber N.V. has full control of the Fyber 
GmbH asset and its subsidiaries, as there are no restrictions on its 
rights as a 100% shareholder in the meantime. However, should 
the “fall-back” be exercised, Fyber N.V. would lose control over 
Fyber GmbH and its subsidiaries, which would lead to a 
deconsolidation at that time. 

4. Issue of convertible bonds and net debt 

In July 2015, Fyber N.V. has placed senior, unsecured convertible 
bonds of EUR k 100,000 in aggregate principal amount due in July 
2020. In H1 2016 a tap issue of additional EUR k 50,000 was 
issued with settlement of EUR k 25,000 in June 2016 and 
EUR k 25,000 in July 2016. The additional bonds were placed 
based on the same terms as the original issue i.e. a nominal 
coupon of 5% p.a. payable semi-annually in arrears and a 
conversion price of EUR 4.20. 

Interest on the new bonds accrued starting from the last interest 
payment in January 2016. EUR k 1,104 interest were accrued until 
the settlement in June and July 2016 and were collected from bond 
subscribers in addition to the nominal value of the bonds. Interest 
earned before the settlement were netted with those owed for the 
same period having no effect on the income statement. 

The convertible bond as a compound financial instrument was upon 
initial recognition split into a liability and an equity component 
respectively. The liability component was determined by assuming 
a market interest rate of 7.8% p.a. Transaction costs for the issue 
of the new bonds of about EUR k 1,198 relating primarily to fees 
incurred by the acting Lead Managers to the transaction were 
allocated to the liability and the equity component on a pro rata 
basis. 

The additional EUR k 50,000 convertible bonds were split into 
equity and liability as follows: 
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2.6.3. Intangible assets other than goodwill 

Management uses assumptions to assess the technical and 
commercial feasibility and the future economic benefit of internally 
generated software and digital content. Further estimates were 
applied by measuring the related development costs and 
determining the useful lives. In case that an impairment test might 
be required in accordance with the accounting policies (note 2.4.), 
management uses significant assumptions on which the 
recoverable amount is based. 

2.6.4.  Income taxes 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax 
regulations, changes in tax laws, and the amount and timing of 
future taxable income. Given the wide range of international 
business relationships and the long-term nature and complexity of 
existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the 
actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to 
such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax 
income and expense already recorded. The Group establishes 
provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible 
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective 
countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is 
based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits 
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity 
and the responsible tax authority. Such differences in interpretation 
may arise for a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions 
prevailing in the respective domicile of the Group companies. 

Management judgment is required to determine the amount of 
deferred taxes that can be recognized and with respect to changes 
in tax laws and the amount and timing of future taxable income. 
These judgments and assumptions are subject to risk and 
uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in 
circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the 
amount of deferred taxes recognized and the amount of other tax 
losses and temporary differences not yet recognized. Under such 
circumstances the carrying amount of recognized deferred taxes 
may require adjustment. 

2.6.5. Purchase price allocation 

Management uses judgement on whether and when control has 
been acquired over an investee. 

Please refer to note 5. for the judgement and the key assumptions 
used in the purchase price allocation. 

2.6.6. Impairment of goodwill 

The group tests annually if goodwill has suffered any impairment in 
accordance with the accounting policies (note 2.4.). 

Please refer to note 17. for detailed information on estimates and 
key assumptions used to determine the necessity of an impairment, 
including a sensitivity analysis. 

2.6.7. Measurement of receivables and necessary 
impairments 

Individual receivables and any necessary write-downs are 
estimated and evaluated on the basis of the individual client’s 
creditworthiness, current economic developments, and an analysis 
of historical defaults. 

Based on historic experience, receivables overdue by more than 
180 days are considered to be uncollectable. Consequently a 100% 
reserve for bad debt is recognized against these receivables (excl. 
VAT) unless management, in an individual analysis of underlying 

factors, comes to a different conclusion. €199k of receivables 
overdue by more than 180 days have not been included in the bad 
debt reserve on the basis of this analysis. 

2.6.8. Measurement of compound financial instruments 

The equity component of any convertible loan is determined by 
deducting the fair value of the financial liability from the fair value 
of the instrument as a whole. Management judgement is required 
to assess market interest rate for comparable financial instruments.  

Management assume, that the comparable, non-convertible loan 
would bear an interest of 7.8%. This assumptions is the same as in 
the prior year. 

2.7. New and amended standards and 
interpretations 

2.7.1. New currently effective standards and 
interpretations 

New and amended standards, which are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, were adopted by the 
Group without significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements as of 31 December 2016: 

IFRS 11 (Amended) Accounting for Acquisitions of 
Interests in Joint Operations 

IFRS 14 
Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

IAS 1 (Amended) 
Disclosure Initiative 

IAS 16 (Amended) + IAS 38 
(Amended) 

Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortization 

IAS 27 (Amendments) Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements  

Annual Improvements to IFRS 
2012-2014 Cycle Various standards 
IFRS 10 (Amended) + IFRS 
12 (Amended) + IAS 28 
(Amended) 

Investment Entities: Applying 
the Consolidated Exception 

 

2.7.2. Standards issued but not yet effective 

The following overview outlines those Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the IASB at 31 December 2016 which 
have not been applied early, as their application is either not 
mandatory or endorsement by the European Commission is still 
pending. The potential impact of these standards on the 
consolidated financial statements for following years is under 
assessment by the Group. 

Effective date: 1 January 2017 

IAS 7 (Amended) Statement of Cash Flows 

IAS 12 (Amended) Recognition of Deferred Tax 
Assets for Unrealized Losses 

Effective date: 1 January 2018 
Annual Improvements to 
IFRS 2014-2016 Cycle Various standards 

IAS 40 (Amended) Transfers of Investment 
Property 
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The key assumptions of the valuation of the technology are as 
follows: 

 
Customer 

relationships Technology Brand 

Valuation 
methodology 
used 

Multi-period 
excess-

earnings 
method 

(MEEM) 
Relief from 

royalty 
Relief from 

royalty 

Useful life 4 years 6 years 6 years 

Tax rate 40% 40% 40% 
 

The goodwill of EUR k 25,292 comprises the value of the expected 
growth in revenue as well as synergies arising from the acquisition. 
With the acquisition of Heyzap and the migration of publishers, the 
reach of the Fyber Platform was expected to grow significantly 
which n return increases the attractiveness of Fyber Platform for 
both publishers and advertisers. Further, the acquisition increased 
the market share and strengthened the position of Fyber in the 
mediation market. Heyzap was very successful in growing the 
mediated traffic but did not succeed in turning it into exchange 
revenues. The Fyber platform provided much better technology 
support for that important step and would therefore allow significant 
revenue synergies. Upon closing, Heyzap was considered a part of 
the ad-monetization segment of the Group. Therefore, the entire 
goodwill was allocated to this segment. None of the goodwill is 
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. Please refer to 
note 17. for further detail on Goodwill including reallocation due to 
a subsequent change in the structure of the operating segments. 

From the date of the acquisition, Heyzap contributed EUR k 6,825 
to the consolidated revenues and EUR k -730 to loss after tax. If 
the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, 
Heyzap would have contributed EUR k 7,243 to consolidated 
revenue and EUR k -673 to loss after tax. 

The acquisition had the following cash effect: 

 EUR k 

Cash payment -18,652 

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 529 
Net cash flow (included in cash flow from 
investing activities) -18,123 

 

While ad revenue under management had been increased 
significantly on the Heyzap Platform in 2016, the amount of 
migrated ad revenue under management was clearly behind initial 
expectations. Therefore, the revaluation of the earn-out as of the 
reporting date lead to an earn-out of EUR k 4,466. The variance 
has been recognized in other operating income. Please refer to 
note 8. for further detail.  

 

5.3. Purchase price allocation of Inneractive 

The purchase price allocation considers all knowledge and 
adjusting events about the conditions that existed at the acquisition 
date. As of the acquisition date a discount of EUR k 911 was 
recognized on the purchase price of EUR k 70,831 to reflect the 
respective maturities especially of the earn-out payments. An 
amount of EUR k 69,920 was allocated to the identified assets and 

liabilities of Inneractive as well as goodwill at the date of acquisition 
as follows: 

 19 Jul 2016 

 EUR k 
Recognized amounts of  
identifiable net assets  

 -Customer relationships 14,230 
 -Technology 7,855 
 -Trademark 1,190 

Intangible assets 23,275 
Property and equipment 308 
Deferred taxes  

-Deferred tax assets 846 
-Deferred tax liabilities -2,793 

Non-current financial assets 56 
Trade and other receivables 18,492 
Restricted cash 531 
Other current assets 682 
Cash & equivalents 3,093 
Long-term employee benefits liabilities -158 
Trade payables -14,371 
Short-term borrowings -2,264 
Other short-term provisions -328 

Other current liabilities -1,946 

 25,423 
Goodwill arising from acquisition 44,499 

Purchase consideration transferred 69,920 
 

The key assumptions of the valuation of the identified intangible 
assets are as follows: 

 
Customer 

relationships Technology Trademark 

Valuation 
methodology 
used 

Multi-period 
excess-

earnings 
method 

(MEEM) 
Relief from 

royalty 
Relief from 

royalty 

Useful life 4 years 6 years 6 years 

Tax rate 12.0% 12.0% 12.0% 
 

The goodwill of EUR k 44,499 comprises the value of the expected 
growth in revenue as well as synergies arising from the acquisition. 
The synergies are expected to result from a better utilization of 
publisher and advertiser contacts to effect higher fill rates and 
average revenue for ad impressions delivered. By providing all 
business units in the group access to the overall inventory, the 
market will be more liquid, attractive and rewarding for all parties 
involved. The resulting increase in revenues will provide superior 
contributions to profitability through economies of scale. Inneractive 
is considered a single cash generating unit. Therefore, the entire 
goodwill is allocated to this segment. None of the goodwill is 
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 

From the date of the acquisition, Inneractive contributed 
EUR k 42,437 to the consolidated revenues and EUR k 3,216 
income to loss after tax. If the combination had taken place at the 
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EUR k 
Equity 

component 
Liability 

component Total 

Principal 3,614 46,386 50,000 
Transaction 
costs -86 -1,112 -1,198 
Net 
proceeds 3,528 45,274 48,802 
Deferred tax 
liabilities -1,091 0 -1,091 

 2,437 45,274 47,711 
 

The equity component is recognized in other capital reserves (note 
27.3.). 

With the issue of the convertible bonds, net debt developed as 
follows: 

Net debt analysis 31 Dec 
2016 

31 Dec 
2015 

 EUR k EUR k 

Long-term borrowings 136,642 88,572 

Short-term borrowings 1,429 0 
Accrued interest on convertible 
bond 3,223 2,145 

Cash and cash equivalents -24,982 -79,123 

Net debt / (cash) 116,312 11,594 
 

In April 2017, the holders of the Convertible Bonds supported a 
change of the terms in the following major aspects: 

• The interest rate was reduced from 5.00% p.a. to 3.00% 
p.a. 

• The conversion price was reduced from EUR 4.20 to EUR 
3.00 

• A subordination of the Convertible Bonds against any 
newly raised debt was approved. 

Please refer to note 47.1. for further details. 

5. Acquisitions in 2016 

5.1. General information  

Effective 7 January 2016, the Group acquired 100% of the share 
capital of Heyzap Inc. (“Heyzap”), a supply side advertising 
platform and mediation provider. The maximum consideration has 
been agreed to be USD k 45,000 including earn out and retention 
components. In the acquisition business case, management 
expected a total payment of USD k 36,217 (EUR k 33,478).  This 
payment includes a cash component of USD k 20,177 (EUR k 
18,652) as per closing as well as earn out and retention 
components of USD k 16,040 (EUR k 14,826). The main driver for 
the earn out component is the growth of revenues under 
management (ad traffic realized either through direct or mediated 
demand partners) migrated to the Fyber platform within one year 
after the acquisition. Management assumed that nearly all revenue 
under management could be transferred to the Fyber platform 
within that year and that substantial double-digit growth would 
continue. Also there was a slight decrease of the exchange 
revenue assumed for the determination of total consideration. 

Heyzap was acquired primarily to expand the reach and liquidity of 
the Fyber platform by migrating the unique portfolio of Heyzap’s 
publishers and advertisers, both with direct and mediated 
relationships, the latter one being the centerpiece of the earn out 
calculation. In addition, certain ad format know-how and 
technologies were acquired, which will be utilized in the future 
Fyber platform development (note 5.2.). 

Further, the acquisition of 100% of the shares in Inneractive Ltd., 
Tel Aviv, Israel, a fast-growing supply side platform and ad server 
for programmatic selling, was closed on 19 July 2016. The 
maximum consideration has been agreed to be USD k 78,552 
(EUR k 70,831) in cash consisting of an initial payment of 
USD k 46,000 at closing plus earn-out as well as retention 
components payable over three years – mostly dependent on 
future revenue growth. A payment of USD k 8,000 was already 
made at closing into an escrow account to be used against future 
earn-out payments. In the acquisition business case, management 
expected a total consideration of USD k 78,552. The company and 
its subsidiaries are fully consolidated as of the closing date (note 
5.3.). 

5.2. Purchase price allocation of Heyzap  

The purchase price allocation considers all knowledge and 
adjusting events about the conditions that existed at the acquisition 
date. From the acquisition business case purchase price of 
EUR k 33,478, two loans of Heyzap have been repaid in an amount 
of EUR k 969 and an earn-out of EUR k 1,848 in connection with 
the payment of retention to employees of Heyzap was not 
recognized as consideration for the shares transferred. The 
remaining purchase price of EUR k 30,661 was allocated to the 
identified assets and liabilities of Heyzap as well as goodwill at the 
date of acquisition as follows: 

 
Fair value 

07 Jan 
 2016 

 EUR k 

Recognized amounts of identifiable net assets 

 -Customer relationships 3,771 

 -Technology 1,633 

 -Trademark 604 

Intangible assets 6,008 

Deferred taxes  

 - Deferred tax assets 2,403 

 - Deferred tax liabilities -2,403 

Security deposits 8 

Trade receivables 1,695 

Cash and cash equivalents 529 

Long-term borrowings -969 

Trade and other payables -1,902 

Identifiable net assets 5,369 

Goodwill arising from acquisition 25,292 

Purchase consideration transferred 30,661 
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Rental income is derived from sub-leases of office space. 

9. Personnel costs 

Personnel costs include fixed and variable salaries including other 
benefits of the employees of the group companies as well as 
employer’s contribution on social security. 

Other benefits include a stock option program implemented for 
senior management and employees of the Group. 

During the year 2016, 3.0 million options were granted and 
1.6 million were forfeited due to the employees leaving prior to 
vesting.  

As of 31 December 2016, a total of 8.2 million options were 
outstanding to employees and senior management including 
management board members with a weighted average strike price 
of EUR 3.06. Of the outstanding options, 1.7 million were 
exercisable. The total fair value of the options has been determined 
using the Black Scholes model as EUR k 5,400 based on the 
following assumptions: 

Share price: 2.89 – 3.75 EUR  

Dividend yield: 0% p.a. 

Term of the option: 2.875 years 

Risk free interest rate: -0,48% to -0,69% p.a. 

Historical volatility: 36% 

Fluctuation: 20% p.a. 

The options were granted to employees in 5 tranches, depending 
on when the employees have started. The term of the options was 
assumed taking into account a maximum exercise period of five 
years following the start date as well as the expected exercise 
behavior. As risk-free rate, ECB AAA yields adequate to the 
relevant term were used.  

As the options are settled in shares, the value of the options is 
locked and not subject to revaluation and is accrued over the 
vesting period and recognized in personnel costs. Concerning 
IFRS 2.20 the fluctuation rate is adjusted quarterly and in 
consequence the number of shares exercisable and the expenses 
recognized are adjusted. 

For two employees the service agreements include specific market 
conditions. Concerning IFRS 2.21 assumptions over these market 
conditions have no impact on the valuation of the options granted.  
 For 2016, the Group recognized personnel costs in connection 
with the stock option plan in an amount of EUR k 1,715. Due to the 
specific vesting conditions of the stock option plan, expenses are 
incurred over-proportionately in 2015 and 2016 with decreasing 
amounts to be recognized in future periods. 

10. Other operating expenses  

The following table provides an overview of the material items of 
other operating expenses: 

 

 

 

 1 Jan - 1 Jan - 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

IT 9,310 2,978 
Foreign currency transactions 
loss 6,591 3,713 

Legal and consulting 2,858 6,055 

Professional services and 
contractors 2,637 2,094 

Extension fee for Inneractive 
closing window 2,254 0 

Rent and utilities 1,773 1,337 

Travel and entertainment 1,710 1,180 

Marketing 1,499 828 

Tax and accounting 1,334 1,272 

Training and recruiting 1,176 1,254 

Bad debt 1,006 513 

Service Fees 818 471 

Supervisory Board remuneration 707 0 

Other provisions 665 496 

Publisher integration bonus 297 0 

Internal events 258 0 

Miscellaneous 1,189 1,258 

Other operating expenses 36,083 22,953 
 

IT cost mostly relate to the use of cloud based production and 
delivery services for Fyber RTB, Inneractive and Heyzap, which all 
do not operate their own server infrastructure. Fyber GmbH still 
owns its server infrastructure and therefore records the related cost 
as depreciation. The strong increase vs. 2015 is due to strong 
growth in Fyber RTB revenues as well as the first-time inclusion of 
Inneractive and Heyzap.  

Due to delays in the settlement of the fully subscribed convertible 
bonds tap issue, the company needed to secure an extension of 
the closing window for the Inneractive acquisition. The relating cost 
was EUR k 2,254. 

Less corporate finance projects in 2016 compared to 2015 led to a 
reduction of legal & consulting expenses. The main projects in 2016 
were the two acquisition of Heyzap and Inneractive. In 2015 the 
costs relate to the listing upgrade (EUR k 1,725) as well as 
transactions costs for Falk (renamed to Fyber RTB in 2016) and 
Fyber (EUR k 1,190), both considered to be non-recurring in nature 
and therefore included in the separately disclosed items. The 
remaining amount was primarily incurred for interim management 
(EUR k 1,034) and general advisory and corporate administration 
(EUR k 2,106).  

Foreign currency loss increased for the same reason as foreign 
currency gains rose in the same period (note 8.). As a significant 
part of the Groups cost basis, in particular payouts to publishers, 
are denominated in foreign currencies, the fluctuation of the value 
of the Euro as well as the overall payout growth had an adverse 
effect on the income statement. 
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beginning of the year, Inneractive would have contributed 
EUR k 83,353 to consolidated revenue and EUR k 553 income to 
loss after tax. 

The acquisition had the following cash effect: 

 EUR k 

Cash payment -55,683 

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 3,624 
Net cash flow (included in cash flow from 
investing activities) -52,059 

 

6. Discontinued operations 

In the financial year 2015 management decided to discontinue on 
the edutainment operations to completely focus on mobile 
advertising technology. Effective 29 April, 100% of the shares in 
Big Star Global Co. Ltd. were sold to BSGI LLC, a related party to 
Mr. Hyunghoon Han, who sold Big Star Global to the Group in 
December 2013. The purchase price of EUR k 2,654 
(USD k 3,000) was settled by two promissory notes issued by BSGI 
LLC. One of the promissory notes amounting to EUR k 1,327 was 
immediately used to buy 627,615 treasury shares of Fyber N.V. 
from Mr. Han. Due to uncertainties in respect to a full recoverability 
of the remaining promissory note, the note was not recognized as 
proceeds. Further, a restructuring loan granted to Big Star Global 
of EUR k 991 was fully impaired. These charges as well as the 
losses contributed by Big Star Global until its disposal were offset 
by the use of provisions recognized upon the discontinuation of Big 
Star Global in 2015. As   

 1 Jan - 1 Jan - 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 

 EUR k EUR  

Revenue  942 5,944 
Other operating income 27 1,466 
Expenses -1,393 -9,463 
Profit from discontinued 
operations before tax -424 -2,053 

Tax expense 0 0 

Profit for the year -424 -2,161 

Re-measurement 0 -12,356 

Profit before tax on disposal 2,784 108 
Recycling of foreign currency 
translation reserve 1,023 0 
Loss for the year from 
discontinued operations after tax 3,383 -14,409 

 

 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

7. Revenue 

The revenues of EUR k 176,786 (2015: EUR k 81,076) shown in 
the income statement relate solely to the advertising services 
realized through Fyber Platform incl. Heyzap, Fyber RTB and 
Inneractive. 

Revenues represent the money collected from advertisers while 
gross margin (EUR) represent these revenues net of pay-outs to 
publishers. Management considers this Gross representation of 
revenues as appropriate as the following factors indicate that the 
Group does not act as an agent: 

• The Group has significant responsibility for the services 
rendered, 

• Credit risk is borne by the Group, 

• The Group can vary the selling prices and does not get a 
commission. 

8. Other operating income  

Other operating income breaks down as follows: 

 1 Jan - 1 Jan - 

 31 Dec 
2016 

31 Dec 
2015 

 EUR k EUR k 
Income from revaluation of the 
Heyzap earn-out 8,890 0 

Foreign currency transaction gains 5,273 4,757 

Rental income 200 0 

Income from release of accruals 167 33 

Miscellaneous 94 146 

Other operating income 14,624 4,936 
 

Income from revaluation of the Heyzap earn-out resulted from an 
update on the estimate on the performance related earn-out 
component. Instead of the initially assumed earn-out of 
EUR k 14,826, as of the reporting date, management rather 
expects the earn-out to be no more than EUR k 4,743 (USD k 
5,000). The reduction resulted from the slower migration of 
customer accounts to the Fyber platform and the linked 
performance earn-out criterion of “growth of ad revenue under 
management on the Fyber platform within 45 days prior to the 1st 
anniversary of the acquisition” not being fulfilled.  

The foreign currency transaction gains are related to the Group’s 
high international business share, which is mostly realized in USD. 
Both 2016 acquisitions, Heyzap and Inneractive invoice all of their 
revenues in USD. Due to the related working capital exposure in 
USD the fluctuation of the exchange rate of the Euro against the 
USD resulted in respective gains in 2015. Corresponding losses 
are recorded as other operating expenses. 

--this document is signed digitally--



Fyber N.V. Annual Report 2016Fyber N.V. Annual Report 2016 105104

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 
 

Fyber N.V. by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the 
potentially dilutive ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

The basic and diluted earnings per share are: 

  
1 Jan – 
31 Dec 

2016 

1 Jan – 
31 Dec 

2015 
Profit / loss attributable to     

owners of the parent EUR k -25,855 -37,934 
Weighted average shares 
outstanding, basic 000s 113,189 114,533 

Weighted average shares 
outstanding, diluted 000s 118,295 119,510 

    
Basic loss per share EUR  -0.23 -0.33 

Diluted loss per share EUR  -0.22 -0.32 

16. Separately disclosed items 

Please refer to note 2.4.3. for the accounting policies with respect 
to the recognition of separately disclosed items.  

Separately disclosed items break down as follows:  

 1 Jan – 1 Jan – 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Non-cash accounting charges for 
stock options, warrants etc. -1,715 -2,635 
Retention costs related to 
acquisitions -639 0 
Transaction costs related to 
acquisitions -4,226 -1,190 
Other non-recurring income and 
costs 8,890 -1,725 

Effect on EBITDA 2,310 -5,550 
   
Amortization of acquired intangible 
assets -5,286 -2,469 
Other non-recurring financial income 
and expenses -201 0 
Discontinued operations 3,383 -14,409 
Related tax effects of the items listed 
above 0 739 
Effect on loss for the period after 
tax 206 -21,689 
 
Non-cash stock option charges, warrants etc. in 2016 and 2015 
relate to the company’s stock option program (note 2.4.5.3.).  

Retention costs granted to employees of Heyzap in the course of 
the acquisition were not recognized as consideration for the shares 
transferred and are recognized in personnel costs over the 
retention period 2016 to 2018.  

In 2016, transaction costs relate to the acquisitions of Heyzap and 
Inneractive and consist mainly of due diligence, legal advice and 
other consultancy services. Transaction costs in 2015 were 
incurred for the acquisition of Falk Ltd. and Heyzap Inc.  

Other non-recurring income and costs in 2016 result from the 
reduction of the earn-out component of the Heyzap transaction 

based on updated estimates in Q4 2016. In 2015, this position 
contained legal advice, special audit and consultancy costs in 
connection with the listing upgrade of the Fyber share to be traded 
on the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets relates to intangibles 
identified in the business combinations with Inneractive, Heyzap, 
Fyber and Falk. The increase from EUR k -2,469 to EUR k -5,286 
relates to intangibles recognized following the acquisitions of 
Heyzap and Inneractive. Please refer to note 5. 

Discontinued operations in 2016 and 2015 relate to the 
discontinuation of Big Star Global (note 6.). The final divestment 
provided a more favorable outcome than originally estimated. 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION 

17. Goodwill 

The goodwill results from acquisitions and breaks down as follows: 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Fyber, Germany   
- Goodwill as at acquisition of Fyber 

GmbH 135,080 135,080 
- Goodwill as at acquisition of Falk 

Realtime Ltd.  9,096 9,096 

 144,176 144,176 

Inneractive Ltd., Israel   

- Goodwill as at acquisition 44,499 0 
- Currency effect 2,317 0 

Heyzap Inc., USA   

- Goodwill as at acquisition 25,292 0 
- Currency effect  667 0 

   

Goodwill 216,951 144,176 
 
 

The goodwill from the Fyber acquisition as well as the goodwill from 
the Heyzap acquisition were allocated to the cash generating unit 
'Ad monetization' as their cash flows have various significant 
interdependencies. The CGU uses the EUR as functional currency. 
The goodwill arising from the Heyzap transaction was determined 
in USD and converted into EUR. The goodwill is now considered 
as part of the GCU and therefore only in EUR.  

After two additional acquisitions in 2016 and the substantial growth 
of Fyber RTB, management decided to structure the business 
around three operating segments: Fyber Platform, Fyber RTB and 
Inneractive. Please refer to note 36 for further detail. 

In this process, the goodwill of the 2015 ad monetization operating 
segment was reallocated based on the respective values in use of 
the identified operating segments as of 31 December 2016 (date of 
reallocation). 
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The increase of the remaining other operating expenses was 
primarily driven by overall organic as well as acquisition related 
business growth.  

11. Depreciation, amortization and impairment 

At the end of the year 2016. The Group recognizes a total of 
depreciation, amortization and impairment of EUR k 9,286. 
Amortization of intangible assets accounts for EUR k 8,318 (note 
18) and depreciation of tangible assets accounts for EUR k 1,087 
(note 19). No impairment charges were recognized. 

12. Finance expenses 

During the reporting year 2016, the Group issued additional 
convertible bonds amounting to EUR k 50,000. The interest on the 
total EUR k 150,000 Convertible Bonds now account for 
EUR k 9,019 of the total of EUR k 11,602 finance expenses. The 
following table provides an overview of the finance expenses:  

 1 Jan -  1 Jan -  

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Interest accrued Convertible Bonds 9,020 2,908 

Sapinda fees 105 0 

Interest to Bank Leumi 61 0 

Interest on Shareholder loans  0 467 

Interest to Silicon Valley Bank 0 131 

Interest to IBB 0 27 

Currency effect 0 10 

Miscellaneous 231 0 

Finance expenses 9,417 3,543 

13. Income tax expenses 

The major components of income tax expense are as follows: 

 

1 Jan - 
31 Dec 

2016 

1 Jan - 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 
Breakdown of income tax reported in 
profit or loss   
Current income tax charge 1,196 740 

Deferred tax   
 - Relating to the origination and reversal 
of temporary differences 952 -3,827 

Income tax charged to profit or loss 2,148 -3,087 
Breakdown of income tax reported in 
OCI   

Income tax charged to OCI 0 0 
 

Reconciliation of accounting loss to income tax expense / income 
tax gain:  

 

 

1 Jan - 
31 Dec 

2016 
1 Jan - 31 
Dec 2015 

 EUR k EUR k 

Accounting loss before tax -27,089 -26,612 

Applicable tax rate 30.175% 30.175% 

Income tax at applicable tax rate -8,174 -8,030 
Non-deductible expenses for tax 
purposes   

Stock option expenses (note 9.) 518 655 
Other expenses not deductible for tax 
purposes 363 180 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets in 
fiscal year 10,909 5,442 
Use of unrecognized deferred tax assets 
not yet being recognized -844 -939 

Others -624 -395 
Income tax expense (+) / income (-) 
reported in the statement of 
comprehensive income 2,148 -3,087 
 

Since the acquisition of Fyber in 2014 the majority of revenues is 
generated through entities in Germany. Therefore, the tax rate 
applied in Germany is deemed to be valid as Group tax rate from 
2014 onwards. The tax rate of 30.175% contains corporate income 
tax of 15.825%, including solidarity surcharge, as well as trade tax 
of 14.35%. 

Reconciliation of tax income (-) / expense from the origination and 
reversal of temporary differences and tax loss carried forward:  

   

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Changes in deferred tax assets  
recognized through P&L 2,692 -3,651 
Changes in deferred tax liabilities 
recognized through P&L -1,740 -176 
Tax income (-) / expense from the 
origination and reversal of temporary 
differences and tax loss carried 
forward 952 -3,827 
 

14. Other comprehensive income 

An income tax effect in relation to the exchange differences on 
currency translation was not recognized. In case that taxable 
temporary differences may arise in this respect, the parent is able 
to control the timing of the reversal of such temporary differences 
and it is probable that those differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

15. Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income 
of the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of Fyber N.V. by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net 
income of the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
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Customer 
contracts 

Develop-
ment 

Techno-
logy Others Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Amortization and  
impairments      

1 Jan 2015 628 2,184 427 2,169 5,408 

Additions 1,251 1,657 1,278 373 4,559 

Disposals 0 -9 0 0 -9 
Impairment 
charges 644 1,136 0 333 2,113 

Currency effects 3 69 0 9 81 
Transfer to assets 
held for sale -838 -3,844 0 -876 -5,558 
Adjustment 2015 
(total amortized 
cost) 0 5,995 0 -198 5,797 
Adjustment 2015 
(Disposal of RNTS 
Ltd) -305 0 -210 -56 -571 

31 Dec 2015 1,383 7,188 1,495 1,754 11,820 

1 Jan 2016 1,383 7,188 1,495 1,754 11,820 

Additions 3,174 715 2,419 779 7,087 

Currency effects 51 0 36 29 116 

31 Dec 2016 4,608 7,903 3,950 2,562 19,023 

 
Customer 
contracts 

Develop-
ment 

Techno-
logy Others Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Carrying amounts      

1 Jan 2015 5,121 3,037 6,512 676 15,346 

31 Dec 2015 3,251 2,830 6,642 1,030 13,753 

31 Dec 2016 18,817 4,258 14,117 2,847 40,039 
 

Others include mainly the various brands (Inneractive, Heyzap, 
Fyber) initially recognized through business combinations, as well 
as acquired software licenses.  

The increase of the carrying amount of other intangible assets was 
driven by the intangibles acquired in the course of the Heyzap and 
Inneractive transactions as well as ongoing investments into the 
technology of Fyber Platform and Fyber RTB.  

Management observes whether there are any indications, either 
from external sources (i.e. current market trends, market 
capitalization of the Group) or from internal sources of information 
(i.e. internal reports to economical and technical performance, 
impairment test of GGU) that an asset or a group of assets might 
be impaired. In 2016, the Group did not recognize any impairment 
charges, while in 2015 impairments were made in in connection 
with the discontinuation of Big Star Global.  

The remaining amortization periods for other intangible assets that 
are material to the financial statements are as follows: 

Asset 
Carrying 
amount 

Remaining 
amortization period 

  EUR k years 

Customer contracts 18,817 3 

Development 4,258 2 - 3 

Technology 14,117 5 

19. Property and equipment 

The following table shows the development of property and 
equipment: 

 

Other 
operational 

and office 
equipment Fixtures Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k 
Acquisition or 
production cost    
1 Jan 2015 674 279 953 
Acquisition of Falk 12 0 12 
Additions  2,112 2 2,114 
Disposal -116 -2 -118 
Currency effects 16 0 16 
Transfer to assets held 
for sale -68 0 -68 
31 Dec 2015 2,630 279 2,909 

1 Jan 2016 2,630 279 2,909 
Acquisition of 
Inneractive 309 120 428 
Additions  402 2 404 
Disposal -1 0 -1 

31 Dec 2016 3,340 401 3,741 

    
Amortization and 
impairments    
1 Jan 2015 249 30 279 
Additions 369 175 544 
Disposal -78 -1 -79 
Currency effects 2 0 2 
Impairment charges 36 0 36 
Transfer to assets held 
for sale  -68 0 -68 
31 Dec 2015 510 204 714 
1 Jan 2016 510 204 714 
Additions 1,072 15 1,087 

31 Dec 2016 1,582 219 1,801 

Carrying amounts    
1 Jan 2015 425 249 674 
31 Dec 2015 2,120 75 2,195 
31 Dec 2016 1,758 182 1,940 
 
Fixtures relate to the Group offices in Berlin, Tel Aviv and San 
Francisco. 

20. Non-current financial assets 

The non-current financial assets break down as follows: 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Leasehold deposits 275 77 
Indemnification claim in respect to 
Fyber SAR (long-term) 105 613 

Other deposits 124 0 

Non-current financial assets 504 690 
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In consequence, the goodwill after the reallocation is as follows: 

CGU 31 Dec 
 2016 

 EUR k 

Fyber platform  70,265 

Fyber RTB 97,998 

Inneractive 46,816 

Others  1,872 

Fyber platform  70,265 

Goodwill 216,951 
 

Due to the change in CGU allocation, no prior year data has been 
included in the table above.  

For all cash generating unit (CGU), the goodwill was tested based 
on the recoverable amount being the higher of the value in use and 
the fair value less cost of disposal. The fair value less cost of 
disposal was determined using actual selling negotiations into 
account and the value in use was based on cash flow projections 
that were derived from financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a fifteen-year period, of which the first five 
years are based on a detailed budget and the additional ten years 
on a high-level cash flow forecast. The key assumptions on the 
compound average growth rates (CAGR) and the post-tax discount 
rates of the cash flow projections are as follows: 

 Fyber Platform Fyber RTB Inneractive 
CAGR on gross revenue 
during the detailed 
forecast period of 5 
years 15.1% 36.1% 36.0% 
CAGR on the free cash 
flow during the high-level 
forecast period for the 
next 10 years 9.9% 6.8% 5.1% 
CAGR on the free cash 
flow beyond the 
forecasted period 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 
CAGR on total expenses 
during the detailed 
forecast period of 5 
years 3.5% 27.0% 25.6% 

Post-tax discount rate 10.58% 10.58% 12.58% 
 

Management expects the different CGU’s, which all serve the 
advertising technology market, to grow strongly beyond the usual 
five-year forecast period. Advertising technology is a fast-growing 
industry (e.g. Fyber NV more than doubled its revenue from 2015 
to 2016). Management expect, that this growth will continue for 
more than the next five years. Therefore, the sixth year of planning 
could not be exemplary for all further years. To address this 
challenge, the free cash flow (and only the free cash flow) is 
planned over a high-level period of 10 further years. This high-level 
planning takes into account that historically high growth rates 
normally slow done over the long term. Before that background, 
management decided that a fifteen-year forecast period is more 
appropriate.  This planning period is, as requested in IAS 36.37, not 
longer than 20 years.  

One major assumption for the CGU Fyber platform is that in future 
there will be significant scalability effects. These effects are based 
on the market share Fyber has reached and the advertiser and 

publisher relationships built in the past. It is assumed that due to a 
further switch to mobile advertising, there will be a significant 
growth in this space, which Fyber will be able to service 
substantially within the infrastructure and cost base already built 
today. 

 

Based on these assumptions, the recoverable values of the cash 
generating units exceed their carrying amounts including goodwill 
and no impairment was recognized. 

The calculation of the value in use is most sensitive to the growth 
rate of gross revenue and total expenses applied both during and 
beyond the explicit forecast period as well as the post-tax discount 
rate applied. Therefore, sensitivity tests were performed by varying 
the following assumptions, holding all other variables constant: 

 

 
Fyber 

Platform Fyber RTB Inneractive 
10% reduction on gross 
revenue CAGR during 
detailed forecast period  No No No 

Increase of post-tax 
discount rate by 1%point No No No 
 

None of the sensitivity tests resulted in an impairment need. 
However, should the significant scalability underlying the 
impairment test for Fyber Platform not be achieved, an impairment 
would be required in the future.  

18. Other intangible assets 

 
Customer 
contracts 

Develop-
ment 

Techno-
logy Others Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Acquisition or  
production cost      

1 Jan 2015 5,749 5,221 6,939 2,845 20,754 

Acquisition of Falk 0 0 1,408 522 1,930 

Additions  0 2,619 0 464 3,083 

Disposals 0 -67 0 0 -67 

Currency effects 28 114 0 63 205 
Transfer to assets 
held for sale -838 -3,844 0 -876 -5,558 
Adjustment 2015 
(total amortized 
cost) 0 5,975 0 -178 5,797 
Adjustment 2015 
(Disposal of RNTS 
ltd) -305 0 -210 -56 -571 

31 Dec 2015 4,634 10,018 8,137 2,784 25,573 

1 Jan 2016 4,634 10,018 8,137 2,784 25,573 
Acquisition of 
Heyzap 3,771 0 1,633 604 6,008 
Acquisition of 
Inneractive 14,230 0 7,855 1,190 23,275 

Additions 0 2,143 0 672 2,815 

Currency effects 790 0 442 159 1,391 

31 Dec 2016 23,425 12,161 18,067 5,409 59,062 
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Increase of tax loss 
carried forward to be 
utilized 0 3,710 3,710 247 
Allowance on tax 
loss carried forward 
to be utilized 0 -3,304 -3,304 -2,939 
Offsetting with 
deferred tax 
liabilities -85 -7,391 -7,476 0 

31 Dec 2016 0 0 0 -2,692 
 
 
 
Deferred tax liabilities 

 
Intan-
gible 

assets 

Equity 
com-

ponent 
convert-

ible 
bonds Total 

Thereof 
through 

P&L 
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

1 Jan 2015 249 0 249 0 
Offsetting with 
deferred tax 
assets 3,334 0 3,334 238 
Acquisition of 
Falk Realtime 
Ltd. 425 0 425 0 
Increase of self-
generated 
intangible 
assets 719 0 719 719 
Issue of 
convertible 
bonds 0 3,391 3,391 0 
Amortization -875 -271 -1,146 -1,146 
Currency 
effects 13 0 13 13 
Offsetting with 
deferred tax 
liabilities -3,865 -3,120 -6,985 0 

31 Dec 2015 0 0 0 -176 

     
 
     

 

Intan-
gible 
assets 

Equity 
com-
ponent 
convert-
ible 
bonds Total 

Thereof 
through 

P&L 
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

1 Jan 2016 0 0 0 0 
Offsetting with 
deferred tax 
assets 3,865 3,120 6,985 0 
Adjustment -2 0 -2 0 
Acquisition of 
Heyzap  2,403 0 2,403 0 
Acquisition of 
Inneractive 2,792 0 2,792 0 
Increase of self-
generated 
intangible 
assets 1,162 0 1,162 1,162 
Issue of 
convertible 
bonds 0 1,091 1,091 0 

Amortization -2,058 -843 -2,902 -2,902 
Offsetting with 
deferred tax 
liabilities -4,110 -3,367 -7,476 0 

31 Dec 2016 4,053 0 4,053 -1,740 
 

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets when deductible 
temporary differences are realizable. There is uncertainty regarding 
the realization of deductible temporary differences in the future for 
all Group entities. Therefore, the Group recognizes deferred tax 
assets arising from temporary differences and tax loss carry 
forwards for those entities for the time being only to the extent that 
respective deferred tax liabilities are recognized and which have 
the similar expectation to be realized as deferred tax assets. For 
this purpose, only deferred tax liabilities were qualified which relate 
to the same tax entity and which have the similar expectation to be 
realized than the deferred tax assets. As a result, the Group 
recognized deferred tax assets for tax loss carry forwards of Fyber 
GmbH and Falk GmbH. 

26. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following items: 

 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Cash at banks 24,853 53,796 

Call deposits 104 25,296 

Cash in transit 8 30 

Cash in hand 17 1 

 24,982 79,123 

Cash at banks attributable to 
assets held for sale 0 481 

Cash and cash equivalents 24,982 79,604 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are freely available. 

27. Equity 

The components and changes in consolidated equity are 
summarized in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

27.1. Issued capital and share premium  

The issued capital of Fyber N.V. amounting to EUR k 11,453 is 
divided into 114,533,333 common shares, with a nominal value of 
EUR 0.10 each. The issued capital as of 31 December 2016 
consisted entirely of fully paid-up ordinary shares. At the reporting 
date the shares were publicly traded. The Company is listed on the 
regulated market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange with 
simultaneous admission to the sub-segment of the regulated 
market with additional post-admission obligations (Prime 
Standard).  

The authorized capital amounts to EUR k 40,000 and is divided into 
400,000,000 shares, with a nominal value of EUR 0.10 each.  
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Leasehold deposits are cash deposits provided as security to the 
landlord. The deposits are not interest bearing and will be refunded 
upon the termination of the respective contract. 

Other deposits primarily consist of severance provisions mandatory 
under Israeli law. 

21. Inventories 

The amount of EUR k 271 (2015: EUR k 408) relates to gift cards 
from third parties like Amazon, Sony PlayStation or Microsoft X-
Box that are used as rewards in user acquisition campaigns.  

22. Trade and other receivables 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 

 EUR k EUR k 

Trade receivables 59,819 23,160 

VAT Receivables 3,153 1.013 

Prepayments  539 89 

Others 28 51 

Trade and other receivables 63,539 24,313 
 
The trade receivables of EUR k 59,819 are net of an allowance for 
bad debts of EUR k 1,808 (2015: EUR k 1,261), which had 
developed as follows: 

 

1-Jan Ac-
quired 

Charge 
for the 
year 

Utilized 
Unused 
amounts 
reversed 

31-Dec 

 
EUR 

k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

2015 1.046 0 583 -91 -277 1.261 

2016 1.261 265 1.039 -315 -442 1.808 
 

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the aging of trade receivables 
is as follows: 

  
Neither 

past      
  due nor Past due but not impaired 

 Total impaired 
< 30 
days 

30 - 60 
days 

61 - 90 
days 

91 - 180 
days 

> 180 
days 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

2016 59,819 28,785 27,687 2,373 362 412 199 

2015 23,160 10,504 9,470 1,508 513 1,114 51 
 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally 
settled on 30 - 90 day-terms. Please refer to note 41. for further 
information. 

23. Other current financial assets 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Indemnification claim in respect to Fyber 
SAR (short term) 15,025 14,780 

Cash item in transit 853 0 

Accrued interest on deposit account at 
ADS Securities 296 145 

Credit card deposit 118 56 

Other 0 11 

Other current financial assets 16,292 14,992 
 
The indemnification claim relates to reimbursement of Fyber for any 
payments that have to be made in connection with the stock 
appreciation rights that have been triggered by the acquisition of 
Fyber. This position contains the short-term portion. The long-term 
portion is recognized in non-current financial assets (note 20.). 

24. Other current assets 

The following table summarizes the components of other current 
assets: 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 

 EUR k EUR k 

Prepaid expenses 1,109 901 

VAT receivables 0 0 

Advance payments 0 0 

Income tax receivables 0 0 

Others 0 0 

Other current assets 1,109 901 

25. Deferred tax assets and deferred liabilities 

The deferred tax assets (DTA) and liabilities (DTL) developed 
during the reporting period as follows: 

Deferred tax assets    

 

Em-
ployee 
benefit 
liability 

Tax 
loss 

carry-
forward Total 

Thereof 
through 

P&L 
 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

1 Jan 2015 0 0 0 0 
Offsetting with 
deferred liabilities as 
of 1 Jan 2015 0 3,334 3,334 0 
Virtual share 
program (Fyber 
SAR) 3,483 0 3,483 3,483 
Increase of tax loss 
carried forward to be 
utilized 0 168 168 168 
Offsetting with 
deferred tax 
liabilities -3,483 -3,502 -6,985 0 

31 Dec 2015 0 0 0 3,651 
 

1 Jan 2016 0 0 0 0 
Offsetting with 
deferred liabilities as 
of 1 Jan 2016 3,483 3,502 6,985 0 
Adjustment -3,483 3,483 0 0 
Employee benefits 85 0 85 0 
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29. Long-term borrowings 

Borrowings as of 31 December 2016 amount to EUR k 136,642 and 
relate to the convertible bonds solely. For more information 
regarding the convertible bonds please refer to note 4. 

30. Other non-current liabilities 

The other non-current liabilities break down as follows:  

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 

 EUR k EUR k 
Inneractive earn-out due after 1 year 9,306 0 

Others 119 68 

Other current liabilities 9,425 68 
 

Inneractive earn-out relates to the outstanding contingent 
consideration from the acquisition of Inneractive. The current 
portion of the earn-out is carried in trade and other payables (note 
31). Please refer to note 5.3 for the further information on the 
acquisition. 

31. Trade and other payables 

The trade and other payables break down as follows: 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Trade payables   

- Publisher payouts 45,632 9,581 

- Other trade payables 7,640 9,396 
Inneractive earn-out due within 1 
year 5,922 0 
Accruals 5,648 2,240 
Heyzap earn-out due within 1 year 4,466 0 

Accrued interest on convertible 
bond 3,223 2,145 
Liabilities from the purchase of 
treasury shares 2,487 0 

Tax payables 1,110 24 

Social security 781 992 
Others 1,150 551 

Trade and other payables 78,059 24,929 
 
The increase of the trade payables is due to the strong business in 
Q4 2016 as well as the overall increase in revenues and publisher 
payouts due to the acquisitions. 
Accruals relates to services that have been received but not yet 
invoiced as of the reporting date as well as amounts accrued for 
the audit of the financial statements and the preparation of tax 
returns. 

Interest on the convertible bonds, payable in January 2017, was 
accrued in an amount of EUR k 3,223. In the prior year, interest of 

EUR k 2,145 had been accrued but shown as part other current 
liabilities (note 32.). 

As of the reporting date, the Group carried liabilities resulting from 
transactions with treasury shares of EUR k 2,487. From this 
amount, EUR k 1,441 were recognized from the outstanding put-
option granted by the Group in the course of the sale of Big Star 
Global, valued at EUR 2.10 per share. This option was exercised 
in April 2017 at a share price of EUR 1.80. 

32. Short-term borrowings 

Borrowings as of 31 December 2016 amount to EUR k 1,429 and 
consist of a revolving credit facility provided by Bank Leumi. 

33. Other current liabilities 

Other current liabilities consist solely of deferred income of €479k 
(2015: €163k). Please refer to note 2.5 for further details on the 
adjustment of 2015 amounts. 

34. Short-term provisions 

 
1 Jan 
2016 

In-
crease 

Utilisa-
tion 

Re-
versal 

31 Dec 
2016 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
Onerous 
contracts 598 0 -503 0 95 
 

The provisions for onerous contracts are made by Fyber for 
unavoidable costs in connection with moving to a new data center. 
The contracts for the old data center had a fixed term and continue 
in some cases until November 2017. Usage of the old data center 
was discontinued due to it being too small for the increased 
volumes of the Fyber Platform. 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

35. Cash flow 

The cash flow statement was prepared using the indirect method 
for presentation of operating activities.  

In 2016 the acquisition of Heyzap and Inneractive was partly done 
in cash and partly done by contingent consideration which were 
recognized in non-current financial liabilities and current financial 
liabilities. Please refer to notes 5.2 and 5.3 for further information 
on the cash effect of these acquisitions.  

Also the disposal of BigStar Global was done without any cash 
payments.  

Other major non-cash transactions did not occur in 2016.  
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27.2. Treasury shares 

In the process of the divestment of Big Star Global, Fyber N.V. in 
2016 acquired 2,000,000 treasury shares from Mr. Hyunghoon 
Han. The divestment was done partly (1,372,385 shares) by issuing 
a put option to Mr. Han, who was but no longer is a related party.  
The put option is according to IAS 32.16 b) no longer part of the 
equity and has to be shown as financial liability. Fyber measured 
the liability with its fair value at grant date (EUR k 4,200). The 
liability is subsequently measured at cost. In the moment of 
exercise of any option Fyber NV has to pay the fair value of shares 
based on the last five days before exercise. Any differences 
between this fair value and the original calculation are recognized 
directly in equity. In 2016 there was only one exercise of 686,192 
shares, leaving 686,193 options outstanding as of the reporting 
date. The remaining options were exercised in April 2017 for 
EUR 1.80.  

27.3. Other capital reserves 

Other capital reserves increase in 2016 by EUR k 4,152 (2015: 
EUR k 10,345) of which EUR k 1,715 (2015: EUR k 2,635) relate 
to stock options granted to employees (note 2.4.5.3.) as well as 
EUR k 2,437 (2015: EUR k 7,710) equity component of the 
convertible bond (note 4). 

27.4. Legal reserve 

Legal reserve includes in 2016 EUR k 4,259 (2015: 3.965 k) for 
self-developed intangible assets. 

27.5. Accumulated deficit 

The accumulated deficit includes the income of the companies 
included in the consolidated financial statements plus actuarial 
gains that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 
periods. 

27.6. Foreign currency translation reserve  

The foreign currency translation results from the translation of the 
accounts of the foreign subsidiaries from local currencies, which 
are the functional currencies of these subsidiaries, into Euro which 
is the functional currency of the parent company and the reporting 
currency of the Group. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
as per 31 Dec 2014 

 
818 

   
Goodwill (arising from acquisition of Big 
Star Global) 

 
320 

Intangible assets (identified at 
acquisitions in excess to other net 
assets) 

 

40 
Additional currency effects arising from 
consolidation of subsidiaries 

 
 

- Fyber  47 

- Big Star Global  -13 

- Falk  -15 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
1 Jan - 31 Dec 2015 

 
379 

   
Foreign currency translation reserve 
as per 31 Dec 2015 

 
1,197 

   

Goodwill (arising from acquisition of 
Inneractive) 

 
2,452 

Intangible assets (identified at 
acquisitions in excess to other net 
assets) 

 

1,278 
Recycling of currency translation reserve 
at disposal of Big Star Global 

 
-1,023 

Additional currency effects arising from 
consolidation of subsidiaries 

 
 

- Fyber Platform  -1,006 

- Fyber RTB   -335 

- Inneractive  981 
Foreign currency translation reserve 
1 Jan - 31 Dec 2016 

 
2,347 

   
Foreign currency translation reserve 
as per 31 Dec 2016 

 
3,544 

28. Employee benefits liabilities 

The employee benefits liabilities relate to the remaining obligation 
from the share appreciation rights (SARs) assumed by Fyber 
through the 2014 acquisition of Fyber GmbH amounting to 
EUR k 9,794 as of the balance sheet date. 

For further details on share appreciation rights, please refer to note 
20. and note 23.  

The disbursement schedule on the employee benefit liability is as 
follows: 

 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Maturity in 1 year 14,001 17,473 

Maturity in 2-5 years 429 613 

Maturity in 5-10 years 0 0 

Maturity in 10 years and more 0 0 

Total employee benefits liabilities 14,430 18,086 
 
The short-term employee benefits liabilities consist of the following: 

  

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 

 EUR k EUR k 

Unsettled from Fyber SAR 9,366 14,780 

Unpaid variable compensation  3,597 2,518 

Vacation accrual 1,038 175 
Short-term employee benefits 
liabilities 14,001 17,473 
 

Following the divestment of its subsidiary Big Star Global, the 
Group does not operate a defined benefit plan anymore. For 2015 
figures please refer to the annual report 2015. 
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39. Capital management 

Capital includes equity attributable to shareholders of the parent. 
An analysis of the Group net debt is shown in note 4.  

As of the reporting date, equity ratio was as follows: 

31 Dec 
2016 

31 Dec 
2015 

 EUR k EUR k 
Equity attributable to shareholders 
of the parent 120.444 144.847 

Total capital 365.627 281.168 

Equity ratio 33% 52% 
 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to 
ensure that it maintains an appropriate capital structure to support 
its current business and future growth and therefore maximize 
shareholder’s value. 

40. Financial assets and liabilities 

41. Financial risk management 

The Group is exposed to various financial risks which arise out of 
its business activities. Main risks identified include financial market 
risks such as currency and interest rate risks, as well as liquidity 
risks and credit risks. The Group manages these risks in 
accordance to its risk strategy to mitigate any negative effects on 
the financial performance and to secure the financial position of 
Fyber Group. 

41.1. Financial market risks 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 
financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market 
variables such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates. 

41.1.1. Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The Group’s reporting currency is Euro. 
The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks in several ways, 
particularly with respect to transactions in foreign currencies and 
foreign exchange translation effects, arising mainly from the 
relative value of the Euro compared to the value of the US dollars 
(USD). Due to the international nature of the Group’s business, the 
Group currently has foreign sales and accounts receivable 
denominated in currencies other than the Euro. In addition, the 
Group purchases advertising in local currencies and incurs a 
portion of its operating expenses in other currencies than Euro. The 
Group faces exposure to adverse movements in currency 
exchange rates, which may cause its revenue and operating results 
to differ materially from expectations. The Group’s operating results 
could be negatively impacted depending on the amount of revenue 
or operating expenses that are denominated in foreign currencies. 

As exchange rates vary, revenue, operating expenses and other 
operating results, when translated, may differ materially from 
expectations. In addition, the Group’s revenue and operating 
results are subject to fluctuation if the mix of US and foreign 
currency denominated transactions or expenses changes in the 
future because the Group does not currently hedge its foreign 

currency exposure. Thereof, a currency hedging will be considered 
in the future by the Group. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably 
possible change in the exchange rate of USD, with all other 
variables held constant.  

 
Change in 
USD rate 

Maximum/ 
minimum 

level 

Effect on 
loss 

before tax 

Effect 
on 

equity 

     EUR k EUR k 

2016 + 5.00% 1.17 13 -5,021 

- 5.00% 1.00 -14 5,549 
     

2015 + 5.00% 1.14 -222 -35 

- 5.00% 1.03 281 44 
 

41.1.2. Interest rate risk 

 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Long-term borrowings   

-fixed interest rate 136,642 88,572 

-float interest rate 0 0 

 136,642 88,572 

Short-term borrowings   

-fixed interest rate 0 0 

-float interest rate 1,429 0 

 1,429 0 
 

Interest risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates 
will affect future cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments. 
As at 31 December 2016, the Group holds a revolving credit facility 
in the amount of EUR k 1,429 with a floating interest rate linked to 
the LIBOR rate. Therefore, interest rate charges in the future will 
have an impact on cash flows. Please refer to note 29. and 32. for 
further details on the loans. 

 
Change in 

interest rate 
Effect on loss 

after tax 

 Basis points  EUR k 

2016 + 10 -1 

- 10 1 
   

2015 + 10 0 

- 10  0 
 

As the Company does not have financial instruments measured at 
fair value, changes in the interest rate will have no impact on equity. 

41.2. Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations 
under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a 
financial loss. The carrying amount of trade and other receivables 
as well as from cash and cash equivalents represent the Group’s 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES 

36. Operating segments 

In 2016 management decided to manage the group in four 
segments: 

Segment Types of products and services 

Fyber Platform Comprised of the 2014 Fyber acquisition and 
the 2016 Heyzap acquisition; providing 
supply side platform and mediation services 
for mobile publishers predominantly in the 
gaming industry. 

Fyber RTB Representing the 2015 Falk Realtime 
acquisition that has grown substantially since 
then; providing programmatic real time 
bidding services in the desktop space with a 
specific focus on video. 

Inneractive Representing the 2016 Inneractive 
acquisition which provides supply side 
platform and programmatic services to 
mobile publishers outside of the gaming 
industry. 

Others Other services not included in the other 
segments incl. corporate services. 

The financial performance and financial position of each segment 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the reference year 
ended 31 December 2015 are as follows: 

 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2016 

 Revenue 
Adjusted 
EBITDA 

Net profit 
/ loss 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Fyber Platform 79,569 -14,644 -23,014 

Fyber RTB 52,268 4,502 3,196 

Inneractive 42,437 4,061 -129 

Others 2,512 -4,803 -9,291 
Subtotal from continuing 
operations 176,786 -10,884 -29,238 

Discontinued operations 0 0 3,383 

 176,786 -10,884 -25,855 
 

 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2015 

 Revenue 
Adjusted 
EBITDA 

Net profit 
/ loss 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Fyber Platform 66,332 -8,380 -16,231 

Fyber RTB 11,309 -1,158 -1,134 

Inneractive 0 0 0 

Others 3,435 -4,202 -6,160 
Subtotal from continuing 
operations 81,076 -13,740 -23,525 

Discontinued operations 0 0 -14,409 

 81,076 -13,740 -37,934 
 

Reconciliation from the amounts in the statement of financial 
position to the total amounts of all reportable segments was not 
prepared since the information of the reportable segments 
completely match with the amounts shown in the financial 
statements. 

37. Geographic information 

Breakdown of revenue according to customers’ location: 

 
1 Jan - 31 Dec 2016 

 

 

Fyber 
Platform 
Group 

Fyber 
RTB 

Group 

Inner-
active 
Group 

AM 
Group 

Total 
revenue 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

United States 40,145 27,713 29,867 1,919 99,644 
Europe, 
Middle East 
and Africa 25,706 24,478 12,570 549 63,303 

Asia-Pacific 11,154 60 0 6 11,220 
Rest of the 
world 2,564 17 0 38 2,619 

 79,569 52,268 42,437 2,512 176,786 
      

 
1 Jan - 31 Dec 2015 

 

 

Fyber 
Core 

Group 

Fyber 
RTB 

Group 

Inner-
active 
Group 

AM 
Group 

Total 
revenue 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

United States 29,727 5,932 0 3,343 39,002 
Europe, 
Middle East 
and Africa 25,481 5,262 0 92 30,835 

Asia-Pacific 9,216 82 0 0 9,298 
Rest of the 
world 1,908 33 0 0 1,941 

 66,332 11,309 0 3,435 81,076 

38. Major customers’ information 

The Group places its cash with creditworthy financial institutions 
and performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers’ financial 
conditions. 

The Group provides services only for creditworthy clients and the 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.  

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group has one major 
customer who represents 10% or more of the Group’s total 
revenue. The breakdown of top three customers by revenue for the 
year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows: 

 
1 Jan - 31 Dec 2016 

 Revenue Revenue Share 
 EUR k % 

BidSwitch 
GmbH 22,854 12.93% 

Tube Mogul 15,220 8.61% 

xAd Inc 13,051 7.38% 

 51,125 29.82% 
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42. Financial assets and liabilities 

42.1. Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities per category 
are as follows: 

EUR k 31 Dec 2016 
 

Total 

Available 
for Sale 

(fair 
value) 

Loans and 
Receivables 
(amortized 

costs) 
Financial assets 

   
Other non-current 
financial assets 504 504 0 
Trade and other 
receivables 63,539 0 63,539 
Other current financial 
assets 16,292 16,292 0 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 24,982 0 24,982 
 

105,317 16,796 88,521 
 

EUR k 31 Dec 2015 
 

Total 

Available 
for Sale 

(fair 
value) 

Loans and 
Receivables 
(amortized 

costs) 
Financial assets 

   
Other non-current 
financial assets 690 690 0 
Trade and other 
receivables 24,313 0 24,313 
Other current financial 
assets 14,992 14,992 0 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 79,123 0 79,123 
 

119,118 15,682 103,436 
 

EUR k 31 Dec 2016 
 

Total 

Measured at 
amortized 

costs 
Financial liabilities 

  
Long-term employee benefits 
liabilities 429 429 

Long-term borrowings 136,642 136,642 

Other non-current liabilities 9,425 9,425 

Trade and other payables 78,059 78,059 
Short-term employee benefits 
liabilities 14,001 14,001 

Short-term borrowing 1,429 1,429 
 

239,985 239,985 
 

EUR k 31 Dec 2015 
 

Total 

Measured at 
amortized 

costs 
Financial liabilities 

  
Long-term employee 
benefits liabilities 613 613 
Long-term borrowings 88,572 88,572 
Other non-current liabilities 0 0 
Trade and other payables 24,929 24,929 
Short-term employee 
benefits liabilities 17,473 17,473 
Short-term borrowing 0 0 

 
131,587 131,587 

 

42.2. Fair value measurement of financial assets 
and liabilities 

Except for the convertible bonds, carrying values are reasonable 
approximations of the respective fair values.  

 
31 Dec 2016 

 Carrying amount Fair Value 

 EUR k EUR k 
Financial liabilities   

Long-term borrowings 136,642 132,000 

 136,642 132,000 
 

 31 Dec 2015 

 Carrying amount Fair Value 

 EUR k EUR k 
Financial liabilities   

Long-term borrowings 88,572 100,400 

 88,572 100,400 
 

The following tables provide the allocation of the fair value of the 
financial assets and liabilities into the three levels (note 2.6.1.). 

EUR k 31 Dec 2016 

 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Contingent 
consideration 15,130 0 0 15,130 

 
15,130 0 0 15,130 

Long-term borrowings -132,000 -132,000 0 0 
Short-term employee 
benefits (VSP) -9,366 0 0 -9,366 

Heyzap earn-out -4,466 0 0 -4,466 

Inneractive earn-out -15,228 0 0 -15,228 

  -161,060 -132,000 0 -29,060 

 
    

Net fair value -145,930 -132,000 0 -13,930 
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maximum exposure to credit risk. No other financial asset carries a 
significant exposure to credit risk. 

The Group places its cash with creditworthy financial institutions 
and performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers’ financial 
conditions. 

The Group provides services only for creditworthy clients and the 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group 
has no significant exposure to any customer nor does it have any 
major concentration of credit risk. 

Aging analysis of non-derivative financial instruments as of 
31 December 2016 and 2015 is as follows:  

EUR k 31 Dec 2016 

 Total 

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired past due but not impaired 

 
 
 

<30 
days 

30-60 
days 

60-90 
days 

Over 
90 

days 
Non-current 
financial 
assets 

504 504 0 0 0 0 

Trade and 
other 
receivables 

63,128 32,095 27,687 2,373 362 611 

Other 
current 
financial 
assets 

16,293 16,293 0 0 0 0 

Cash and 
cash 
equivalents 

24,982 24,982 0 0 0 0 

Assets held 
for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 104,907 73,874 27,687 2,373 362 611 
 

EUR k 31 December 2015 

 Total 

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired past due but not impaired 

 
 
 

<30 
days 

30-60 
days 

60-90 
days 

Over 
90 

days 
Non-current 
financial 
assets 

690 690 0 0 0 0 

Trade and 
other 
receivables 

23,160 10,504 9,470 1,508 513 1,165 

Other 
current 
financial 
assets 

14,992 14,992 0 0 0 0 

Cash and 
cash 
equivalents 

79,123 79,123 0 0 0 0 

Assets held 
for sale 618 618 0 0 0 0 

 118,583 105,927 9,470 1,508 513 1,165 
 

41.3. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may not be 
able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group 
establishes short and long-term capital management plans and 
analyses and reviews cash flow budgets with actual cash outflows 
in order to match the maturity of financial liabilities and financial 
assets. In order to secure and maintain the liquidity, the Group 
entered into two new financing facilities in 2017. Please refer to 
note 2.2 and note 46.2 for further detail.     

The aggregate maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities 
outstanding as of 31 December 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 

EUR k 31 Dec 2016 

 
Total Within 1 

year 
1 year 
to 5 

years 
Over 5 
years 

Financial assets 504 0 504 0 

Trade and other receivables 63,539 63,539 0 0 
Other current financial 
assets 16,292 16,292 0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents 24,982 24,982 0 0 

 105,317 104,813 504 0 

Long-term employee benefit 
liabilities -429 0 -429 0 

Long-term borrowings -150,000 0 -150,000 0 

Other non-current liabilities -10,223 0 -10,223 0 

Trade and other payables -78,059 -78,059 0 0 

Short-term employee benefit 
liabilities -14,001 -14,001 0 0 

Short-term borrowings -1,429 -1,429 0 0 

Short-term provisions -96 0 0 0 

Income tax liabilities -570 -570 0 0 

Other current liabilities -479 -479 0 0 

 -255,286 -94,538 -160,652 0 
     

 -149.969 10.275 -160.148 0 

 

EUR k 31 Dec 2015 

 
Total Within 1 

year 
1 year 
to 5 

years 
Over 5 
years 

Financial assets 690 0 690 0 

Trade and other receivables 23,160 23,160 0 0 
Other current financial 
assets 14,992 14,992 0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents 79,123 79,123 0 0 

 117,965 117,275 690 0 

     

Long-term employee benefit 
liabilities -613 0 -613 0 

Long-term borrowings -100,000 0 -100,000 0 

Trade and other payables -21,732 -21,732 0 0 

Short-term employee benefit 
liabilities -17,473 -17,473 0 0 

Short-term provisions -598 598 0 0 

Income tax liabilities -908 -908 0 0 

Other current liabilities -26,215 6,215 20,000 0 

 -167,539 -33,300 -80,613 0 
     

 -49,574 83,975 -79,923 0 
 

The increase in outstanding financial liabilities is mainly driven by 
the long-term borrowings consisting solely of the convertible bond 
issued by the group in 2015 (note 4.). 
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In 2016, the Group purchased Anoa services in connection with the 
tap issue on the convertible bonds for EUR k 563 (2015: EUR k 
1,125) which was not expensed but directly deducted from the 
bonds proceeds. Further, Anoa provided general corporate advice 
resulting in charges of EUR k 104 (2015: EUR k 564). Key 
management personnel include any person that has the authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling of the 
activities of the entities, directly or indirectly. 

The Group considers members of either the Management Board or 
the Supervisory Board of the parent as such key management 
personnel for which compensation was recognized as follows:  

 

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Share-based payments 563 686 

Short-term employee benefits 2,635 1,392 

Defined contribution plan 230 130 

Termination benefits 0 0 

 3,221 2,091 
 

 
 

1 Jan – 
31 Dec 

2016 

1 Jan –
31 Dec

2015
  EUR k EUR k 

 
Management Board   

Andreas 
Bodczek  

short-term employee 
benefits/share-based 
payments 1,250 1,082 

Heiner Luntz3) 
short-term employee 
benefits/share-based 
payments 512 0 

Janis Zech short-term employee 
benefits/share-based 
payments 445 754 

Ziv Elul 3) 
short-term employee 
benefits/share- based 
payments 307 0 

Roger van 
Diepen 2) 

short-term employee 
benefits 0 160 

Hyunghoon 
Han 1) 

short-term employee 
benefits 0 95 

    

  2,514 2,091 
 
 
Supervisory Board     
Ryan 
Kavanaugh 4) 

short-term employee 
benefits 178 0 

Dirk van Daele short-term employee 
benefits 189 0 

Guy Dubois short-term employee 
benefits 189 0 

Thorsten 
Grenz 3) 

short-term employee 
benefits 52 0 

Jens 
Schumann 3) 

short-term employee 
benefits 47 0 

Crid Yu 3) short-term employee 
benefits 52 0 

  707 0 

  3,221 2,091 
 

1) Member until 30 November 2015 
2) Member until 30 June 2015 

3) Member since 15 June 2016 
4) Member until 16 November 2016 

 

The amounts shown in the table above are those recognized as an 
expense during the reporting period related to key management 
personnel. Further, Andreas Bodczek and Janis Zech received 
short-term employee benefits in connection with the Fyber share 
appreciation rights (note 20. and note 23.) of EUR k 1,130 (2015: 
EUR k 1,673) and EUR k 1,263 (2015: EUR k 1,885) respectively. 
Due to the indemnification mechanism in place, the Group is not 
finally burdened by these benefits. 

Members of the Supervisory Board partly received a remuneration 
for 2015 and 2016 which was entirely recognized as an expense 
during the reporting period 2016.  

44. Other financial commitments 

Lease payments for 2016 in an amount of EUR k 9,030 (2015: EUR 
k 3,110) were included in other operating expenses. Future 
minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases 
are as follows:  

 31 Dec 16 31 Dec 15 
 EUR k EUR k 

Due within one year  1,020 556 

Due in one to five years 7,554 0 

 8,574 556 
 

Future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating 
leases mainly include future real estate lease payments in the 
amount of EUR k 8,542.   

45. Average number of employees 

During the financial year 2016, the Group, including all fully 
consolidated companies at the reporting date, had an average of 
410 (2015: 298) employees. Personnel expenses in 2016 
amounted to EUR k 35,350. A geographic breakdown as of the 
reporting date is shown in the following table: 

 2016 2015 

Country 
Number of 
employees 

Number of 
employees 

Germany 237 214 

USA 96 52 

Korea 0 32 

Israel 71 0 

UK 3 0 

China 3 0 

 410 298 

46. Auditors fee 

Grant Thornton was elected to audit the financial statements of the 
Group for the years 2016 and 2017. Before that, the financial 
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EUR k 31 Dec 2015 

 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Contingent 
consideration 15,393 0 0 15,393 

 
15,393 0 0 15,393 

Long-term borrowings -100,400 -100,400 0 0 
Short-term employee 
benefits (VSP) -9,081 0 0 -9,081 

Heyzap earn-out 0 0 0 0 

Inneractive earn-out 0 0 0 0 

  -109,481 -100,400 0 -9,081 

 
    

Net fair value -94,088 -100,400 0 6,312 

 

The contingent consideration on the assets side and on the 
liabilities side (short -term employee benefits liabilities) values are 
based on the agreements following Fyber’s purchase. 

The indemnification asset in connection with the reimbursement of 
the payout to employees in connection with the virtual share 
program (Fyber SAR) that are carried in non-current financial 
assets and other current financial assets are valued according to 
their underlying obligations which are carried in long-term 
employee benefits liabilities and short-term employee benefits 
liabilities.  

The fair value of fixed interest long-term borrowings, which refers 
to the convertible bond was determined using Level 3 techniques 
by discounting the expected cash flows with a pre-tax cost of debt 
of 7.8 – 8.0% p.a. Please refer to note 29. and 32. for further details 
in respect to borrowings. 

For the earn-out of Heyzap and Inneractive and the PPA methods 
please refer to note 5.2 and 5.3. 

The amortized costs of the trade and other receivables, other cash 
and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and short-term 
borrowings generally approximate fair values due to the short-term 
maturities of these instruments 

42.3. Net results by measurement category 

EUR k 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2016 

 Recognized through profit and loss  
Net 

result 

 
from 

interest from revaluation  

  
Currency 

effect 
Bad 
debt  

Financial assets     
Available-for-Sale  0 0 0 0 
Loans and 
Receivables 188 -830 -1,006 -1,648 

     
Financial liabilities     
Measured at 
amortized costs -9,417 -488 0 -9,905 

 -9,229 -1,318 -1,006 -11,553 

 

 

 

EUR k 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2015 

 Recognized through profit and loss  
Net 

result 

 
from 

interest from revaluation  

  
Currency 

effect 
Bad 
debt  

Financial assets     
Available-for-Sale  0 0 0 0 
Loans and 
Receivables 146 658 -513 291 

     
Financial liabilities     
Measured at 
amortized costs -3,543 386 0 -3,157 

-3,397 1,044 -513 -2,866 

43. Relationships with related parties 

The following table provides the balances with related parties as at 
31 Dec 2016 as well as the total amount of transactions that have 
been entered with related parties during 2016: 

 2016 

 

Amounts 
owed by 
parties 

Amounts 
owed to 
parties 

Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from 

parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Key management personnel 0 0 0 3,221 

Shareholder     

 - Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. 0 0 0 160 

 0 0 0 3,381 
 

The following table provides the balances with related parties as at 
31 Dec 2015 as well as the total amount of transactions that have 
been entered with related parties during 2015: 

 2015 

 

Amounts 
owed by 
parties 

Amounts 
owed to 
parties* 

Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from 

parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Key management personnel 0 0 0 2,318 

Shareholder     

 - Sapinda Asia Ltd. 0 0 0 72 
 - SYSK Ltd. 0 0 0 67 

 - Lars Windhorst 0 0 0 21 
 - Sapinda Invest S.à r.l. 0 0 0 268 

 0 0 0 2,746 
 

The purchases from key management personnel consists of 
compensation of EUR k 3,221 (2015: EUR k 2,091). 

Outstanding balances with Anoa Capital S.A. are as follows. The 
disclosure is made as Mr. Dirk van Daele is CEO and controlling 
shareholder of Anoa Capital S.A. as well as Chairman of the 
supervisory board of Fyber N.V. 

 Anoa Capital S.A. 

 

Amounts 
owed by 
parties 

Amounts 
owed to 
parties 

Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from 

parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

2016 0 0 0 667 

2015 0 146 0 1,689 
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statements of the Group were audited by Ernst & Young 
Accountants LLP. The following fees have been recognized in other 
operating expenses:  

 
1 Jan- 

31 Dec 2016 
1 Jan- 

31 Dec 2015 

 EUR k EUR k 

Grant Thornton   

Audit services 438 0 

Other confirmation services 0 0 

Tax consulting services 0 0 

Other services 0 0 

Ernst & Young   

Audit services 118 534 

Other confirmation services 0 0 

Tax consulting services 0 0 

Other services 0 0 

 556 534 
      

Fees charged by Ernst & Young in 2016 related to audit services 
for the 2015 financial statements. 

47. Events after the balance sheet date 

47.1. Restructuring of the convertible bond 

On 18 April 2017 the holders of the Convertible Bonds agreed to 
the changes of the Bonds’ terms proposed by the Group’s 
management. Most notably these were: 

• Reduction of the fixed interest rate from 5.0% p.a. to 3.0% 
p.a. 

• Reduction of the conversion price from €4.20 to €3.00 

• Waiver of the July 2017 coupon payment 
47.2. Financing Facilities secured 

In May 2017 Fyber GmbH secured a EUR k 7,500 working capital 
facility from BillFront to finance the operating business of Fyber 
Platform.   

In June, Inneractive Ltd signed a revolving credit line for USD 
18,000 with Bank Leumi, Israel. This facility will be used to finance 
the cash needs of the overall group both for earn-out and operating 
needs.  

47.3. Acquisition update 

Both 2016 acquisitions included earn-out obligations based on the 
performance of Heyzap and Inneractive after the purchase.  
For Heyzap, the performance was to be measured in the period of 
45 days prior to the first anniversary on 6 January 2017 on the basis 
of specific performance criteria. In comparison to the maximum 
contractual amount of USD 25,000 (including retention amounts), 
the Company calculated less than 10% of this amount. The sellers 
of Heyzap contested the calculation asking for an amount that is 

substantially higher. In the 2016 financial accounts management 
have provided for a final settlement at USD k 5,000, which 
management still expects to be possible. However, a final 
agreement has not yet been reached. 
For Inneractive, the 2016 earn-out component was achieved at 
100% due to the outstanding performance of the business in 2016, 
which exceeded the targets by far. The payment was made in June 
2017. Further earn-out payments were due for 2017 (in 2018) and 
2018 (in 2019). In July 2017 management decided to accelerate 
the earn-out by effecting these payments in July 2017 as the future 
targets were very likely to be exceeded and an acceleration 
reduces the overall amount due by approx. USD k3,000. .  
47.4. Changes in management board and 

supervisory board 

Mr Janis Zech stepped down from the Management Board with 
effect 1 January 2017. 

Mr Yaron Valler was appointed as a temporary member to the 
Supervisory Board on 13 February 2017, pursuant to Article 25.1 
of the Company’s Articles of Association. Mr Valler represents 
former shareholders of Fyber GmbH, whose holdings in the 
Company jointly exceed 10% of shares in Fyber N.V. 

On 5 April Mr Thorsten Grenz decided to step down as member 
and Vice-chairman from the supervisory board with immediate 
effect. 

On 13 June 2017 the company announced management changes 
subject to an approval by an Extraordinary General Meeting to be 
held on 25 July 2017. The proposed changes include the 
appointment of Ziv Elul (CEO designate), as Managing Director A, 
Dani Sztern, currently COO of Inneractive, as Deputy CEO, Crid 
Yu, currently member of the Supervisory Board, as COO and Yaron 
Zaltsman as CFO. Current CEO Andreas Bodczek and current 
CFO Heiner Luntz will be leaving the company after a transition 
period with Andreas Bodczek taking on an advisory role to the 
Management Board in the future. 

47.5. Other 

On 11 April 2017 an Extraordinary Shareholder Meeting approved 
the following main points: 

• Change of name from RNTS Media N.V. to Fyber N.V. 

• Change of the form of shares from bearer to registered 
shares 

• Changes to the rules of the Supervisory Board including 
compensation 

• Appointment of Grant Thornton as external auditors of the 
Company 

The change of name has been executed on 13 June 2017. 

In June 2017 the management board decided to restrike the stock 
options previously issued to employees to €1.78. Stock Options 
issued to members of the management board were not re-set. 
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Notes 

1 Jan – 1 Jan – 1 Jan –  1 Jan – 1 Jan – 1 Jan – 

EUR k 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2016  
31 Dec 

2015 
31 Dec  

2015 
31 Dec  

2015 

  Adjusted Separately Reported  Adjusted Separately Reported 

  results disclosed results  results disclosed results 

   items    items  

         
Revenue 5 0 0 0  0 0 0 

Revenue share to third parties  0 0 0  0 0 0 

Gross Margin (EUR)  0 0 0  0 0 0 

         
Other operating income 6 596 3,899 4,495  13 108 121 

Personnel costs 7 -2,270 -674 -2,945  -976 -465 -1,441 

Other operating expenses 8 -4,313 -3,157 -7,470  -3,761 -6,423 -10,184 

EBITDA  5,988 68 -5,920  -4,724 -6,780 -11,504 

         
Depreciation, amortization and 
impairment  -18 0 -18  -8 -13,681 -13,689 

EBIT  -6,006 68 -5,938  -4,732 -20,461 -25,193 

         
Finance income 9 4,862 0 4,862  2,304 0 2,304 

Finance expenses 10 -9,390 0 -9,390  -3,379 0 -3,379 
         

Loss for the year before tax -10,534 68 -10,466  -5,807 -20,461 -26,268 

         
Income tax expense  843 0 843  4,433 0 4,433 

Loss for the year from 
continuing operations  -9,691 68 -9,623  -1,374 -20,461 -21,835 

         
Other comprehensive income 
for the year  0 0 0  0 0 0 

            
Total comprehensive income 
for the year  -9,691 68 -9,623  -1,374 -20,461 -21,835 

         
Earnings per share         
         
Basic loss per share (EUR)  -0.09 -0.00 -0.09  -0.01 -0.18 -0.19 
Diluted loss per share (EUR)  -0.08 -0.00 -0.08  -0.01 -0.17 -0.18 
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   Equity attributable to owners of the parent  

EUR k  
Ordinary 
shares 

Share 
premium 

Treasury 
shares 

Other capital 
reserves 

Accumulate
d deficit 

Total 
equity 

        
1 Jan 2016 11,453 184,812 0 13,366 -47,529 162,102 

            
Loss for the year after tax 0 0 0 0 -9,623 -9,623 
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 -9,623 -9,623 

        
Share-based payments 0 0 0 1,715 0 1,715 
Acquisition of treasury shares 0 0 -5,049 0 0 -5,049 
Discount of low-interest shareholder loans 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Equity component convertible bond, net 
of 
tax 0 0 0 2,437 0 2,437 

As at 31 Dec 2016 11,453 184,812 -5,049 17,518 -57,152 151,582 

        
        
1 Jan 2015 11,453 184,782 0 3,021 -25,694 173,562 

            
Loss for the year after tax 0 0 0 0 -21,835 -21,835 
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 -21,835 -21,835 

        
        

Share-based payments 0 0 0 2,635 0 2,635 
Acquisition of treasury shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Discount of low-interest shareholder loans 0 30 0 0 0 30 
Equity component convertible bond, net 
of tax 0 0 0 7,710 0 11,239 

As at 31 Dec 2015 11,453 184,812 0 13,366 -47,529 162,102 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

 
 

 
EUR k Notes 31 Dec 2016  31 Dec 2015  1 Jan 2015 

    Restated1)  Restated1) 
Non-current assets       

Intangible assets 12 6  14  23 

Non-current financial assets       

 Investment in subsidiaries 13 229,966  156,989  163,106 

 Other non-current financial assets 14 67,714  27,155  18,424 

Deferred tax assets  794  1,041  0 

   298,480  185,199  181,553 
Current assets       

Trade and other receivables 15 1,576  1,014  402 

Other current-financial assets 16 8,441  5,430  0 

Other current assets 17 264  312  12 

Cash and cash equivalents 18 5,660  67,990  52 

   15,941  74,746  466 
Total Assets  314,421  259,945  182,019 

        
Equity 19      

Issued capital  11,453  11,453  11,453 

Share premium  184,812  184,812  184,782 

Treasury shares  -5,049  0  0 

Other capital reserves  17,518  13,366  3,021 

Accumulated deficit  -57,152  -47,529  -25,694 

Total equity  151,582  162,102  173,562 
        

Non-current liabilities       

Long-term borrowings 20 136,642  88,572  2,310 

Deferred tax liabilities  0  0  0 

Other non-current liabilities  9,305  0  0 

   145,947  88,572  2,310 
Current liabilities       

Trade and other payables 21 15,021  4,870  2,726 

Short-term employee benefits liabilities  676  255  0 

Short-term borrowings 22 1,195  0  3,421 

Other current liabilities 24 0  0  0 

Short-term provisions 25 0  4,146  0 

   16,892  9,271  6,147 
Total liabilities  162,839  97,843  8,457 
         

Total equity and liabilities  314,421  259,945  182,019 
 

1) Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2015 financial statements and reflect adjustments made (note 4.). 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. Corporate information 

Fyber N.V. (formerly RNTS Media N.V.) is building a global provider 
for Advertising Technology (AdTech) with significant growth 
potential by acquiring and expanding relevant companies and 
technologies. Its principal activities are currently provided through 
different platforms. In 2016 Heyzap was acquired in January and 
Inneractive Ltd. in July. 

Fyber N.V. is incorporated in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, and is 
registered with the Dutch Chamber of Commerce under the number 
54747805. The Company’s head-office is at Johannisstraße 20, 
10117 Berlin, Germany. 

The company financial statements of Fyber N.V. as at 31 
December 2016 were authorized for issue along with the 
consolidated financial statements of Fyber N.V. as at 31 December 
2016. 

Please refer to note 1. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further details. 

2. Basis of preparation 

The company financial statements are separate financial 
statements according to IAS 27.17 and the financial reporting 
requirements included in part 9 of book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

The company financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) at the balance 
sheet date. 

The company income statement is presented closely aligned to the 
nature of expense method.  

3. Acquisitions in 2016 

In 2016, Fyber N.V. acquired 100% of the share capital of Heyzap 
Inc, USA and Inneractive Ltd., Israel.  

Please refer to note 5. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further detail.  

4. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The significant accounting and valuation principles for the company 
financial statements were applied uniformly as for the Fyber Group. 

Please refer to note 2.4. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Consistent to the adjustment made on group level in terms of 
presenting other current assets and other current liabilities (see 
note 2.5. of the notes to the consolidated financial statements), the 
Company for 2016 only includes prepaid expenses in the line item 
other current assets and only deferred income in other current 
liabilities. Prior year figures have been adjusted respectively so that 
for 2015, a reclassification of EUR k 778 (1 January 2015: 
EUR k 238) from other current to trade and other receivables has 

been made as well as reclassification of EUR k 2,148 from other 
current liabilities to trade and other payables.  

Further to the accounting policies described in the consolidated 
financial statements, accounting policies we applied specific to 
company financial statements. In this respect, investments in 
affiliated companies were accounted for at cost. If any indication 
exists, that such an investment may be impaired, a respective 
impairment test is performed. 

In the course of these impairment tests, management is required to 
make further estimates and assumptions. These assumptions are 
basically the same as for the valuation of the cash generating units 
for the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill on group level with 
a reconciliation of the cash generating units to the respective 
subsidiaries. Please refer to note 17. of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for further information. 

 

 

NOTES TO THE COMPANY 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

5. Revenue 

During the reporting period the Company generated no revenue.  

6. Other operating income  

Other operating income breaks down as follows: 

 
1 Jan -  1 Jan -  
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Income from reversal of provisions 3,899 0 

Other income from subsidiaries 339 0 

Income from sale of investment in 
subsidiaries 191 108 

Income from reversal of accrual 107 9 

Miscellaneous 4 0 

Foreign currency transaction gains -45 4 

 4,495 121 
 

The income from reversal of provisions relates to risks in 
connection with the investment in Big Star Global including a 
comfort letter issued in favor to the subsidiary which ended 31 
December 2016. 

Other income from subsidiaries relates to Group management 
services charged to subsidiaries. 

Income from the sale of investment in subsidiaries resulted from 
the disposal of Big Star Global. In 2015, the investment in RNTS 
Media Co. Ltd. was sold. 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 

 
 

 
   1 Jan –  1 Jan – 

EUR k Notes 
31 Dec 

2016  
 31 Dec 

2015 
      

Loss for the year before tax   -10,466  -26,268 
      

Depreciation, amortization and impairment  18  13,689 
Financial income and expenses  4,529  1,075 
Other non-cash effects  -3,277  464 
Changes in provisions, employee benefit obligations  -3,739  4,402 
Changes in working capital  17,939  -913 
Cash generated from operations  5,003  -7,551 
Interest received and paid  -6,400  -666 
Income tax paid  844  0 
Net cash flow from operating activities  -553  -8,217 

      
Purchases, capitalization of intangible assets  0  0 
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired  0  0 
Change in investments and financial assets, net  -111,695  -21,430 
Net cash flow from investing activities   -111,695  -21,430 

      
Proceeds from the issue of shares  0  0 
Transaction costs on the issue of shares  0  0 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings  50,014  115,000 
Transaction costs on the issue of convertible bonds  -1,198  -1,227 
Repayment of long-term borrowings  0  -15,000 
Proceeds from short-term borrowings  1,102  6,650 
Repayment of short-term borrowings  0  -7,838 
Net cash flow from financing activities   49,918  97,585 

      
Net changes in cash  -62,330  67,938 

      
Cash at beginning of period  67,990  52 
Net foreign exchange difference  0  0 
Net changes in cash  -62,330  67,938 

      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  5,660  67,990 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION 

12. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets contain costs incurred by a complete relaunch of 
the company’s website in 2014, which is amortized straight line 
over three years.  

13. Investment in subsidiaries 

  2016 

 
Fyber 
GmbH 

Inneractive 
Ltd.  

RNTS 
Germany 
Holding 
GmbH 

Big Star 
Global 

Co., Ltd. Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

1 Jan 2016 156,961 0 28 0 156,989 

Initial purchase 0 69,920 0 0 69,920 

Transaction 
costs 0 727 0 0 727 

Stock option 
contribution 754 287 0 0 1,041 

Equity 
component of 
low interest 
loans 1,289 0 0 0 1,289 

Impairment 0 0 0 0 0 

31 Dec 2016 159,004 70,934 28 0 229,966 
  
   
  2015 
 

Fyber 
GmbH 

Inneractive 
Ltd. 

RNTS 
Germany 
Holding 
GmbH 

Big Star 
Global 

Co., Ltd. Total 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

1 Jan 2015 153,386 0 0 9,720 163,106 

Initial purchase 0 0 25 0 25 

Transactions 
costs 0 0 3 0 3 

Stock option 
contribution 2,171 0 0 0 2,171 

Equity 
component of 
low interest 
loans 1,404 0 0 0 1404 

Debt-to-equity 
swap 0 0 0 2,500 2,500 

Impairment 0 0 0 -12,220 -12,220 

31 Dec 2015 156,961 0 28 0 156,989 
 

The increase of investment in subsidiaries in 2016 resulted mainly 
from the acquisition of Inneractive Ltd. in July 2016 for 
EUR k 69,920. The acquisition of Heyzap Inc. was made indirectly 
through RNTS Germany Holding GmbH as the acquiring company. 
Please refer to note 5. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further details on both transactions.  

The stock option program of the Company is applied for employees 
of the subsidiaries consistently. The subsidiaries are not obligated 
to reimburse the Company. 

Fyber GmbH was granted shareholder loans at favorable interest 
rates of 2% p.a. The repayment amount was discounted at market 
interest rates of 7.8% p.a., the discount being the equity component 
of the respective loan. 

In 2015 the activities of Big Star Global Co., Ltd., which related 
mainly to edutainment content, were reclassified as discontinued 
operations in 2015. Consequently, the investment was fully 
impaired and successfully sold as of 29 April 2016.  

As at the reporting date all subsidiaries are fully owned by the 
company. 

14. Other non-current financial assets 

  
 2016 
 

     

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

1 Jan 2016 27,152 0 0 0 27,152 

Decrease 0     

Increase  18,648    

Low-interest 
component      

Impairment      

Amortization 
of loan 2,080     

Interest 
accrued      

31 Dec 2016 48,100 19,614 0 0 67,714 

 2015 

      

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

1 Jan 2015 16,911 0 0 1,513 18,424 

Decrease 0 0 0 -2,500 -2,500 

Increase 10,000 0 569 1,000 11,569 
Low-interest 
component -1,278 0 0 0 -1,278 

Impairment 0 0 -882 -70 -952 
Amortization 
of loan 1,052 0 0 0 1,052 
Interest 
accrued 467 0 313 57 837 

31 Dec 2015 0 0 0 0 27,152 
 

The interest rates of loans to affiliated companies are as follows: 
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7. Personnel costs 

Personnel costs include current personnel expenses and expenses 
for the stock option program in the amount of EUR k 674. For 
further information to the stock option plan, please refer to note 8. 
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

8. Other operating expenses  

Other operating expenses break down as follows: 

 1 Jan -  1 Jan -  
 31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Legal and consulting costs 278 4,801 

Affiliates business wound down 0 4,146 

Tax & Accounting 282 911 

Travel & Entertainment 192 112 

Training & Recruiting 109 54 

Rent & Utilities 14 8 

Foreign currency transactions loss 1,705 7 

Marketing 353 5 

Professional services 250 3 

Other SG&A 4,287 137 
 7,470 10,184 

9. Finance income 

 
1 Jan -  1 Jan -  
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Interest from loans granted to 
subsidiaries   

- Fyber 3,084 1,768 

- RNTS Germany Holding 1,416 0 

- Fyber RTB 195 13 

- Interest accrued Heyzap 13 0 
- RNTS Media Deutschland 

GmbH 0 313 

 4,708 2,094 

Interest from other debt investments   
- Deposit account with ADS 

Securities LLC 151 145 

- Big Star Global 3 65 

 154 210 
   

 4,862 2,304 

10. Finance expenses 

 1 Jan - 1 Jan - 
 31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Interest accrued Convertible Bond 9,354 2,909 

Interest accrued Inneractive 36 0 

Interest accrued Sapinda S.à r.l. 0 268 

Interest accrued Sapinda Asia Ltd. 0 121 

Interest accrued Sysk 0 67 

Interest accrued Windhorst 0 10 

Interest accrued Fyber 0 4 

 9,390 3,379 

11. Separately disclosed items 

Please refer to note 2.4.3. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for the accounting policies with respect to the 
recognition of separately disclosed items. 

Separately disclosed items break down as follows: 

  1 Jan – 1 Jan – 

  
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec  

2015 

  EUR k EUR k 
Non-cash accounting charges for 
stock options, warrants etc. -674 -465 
Transaction costs related to 
acquisitions -3,157 -552 
Other non-recurring income and 
costs 3,899 -5,763 

Effect on EBITDA 68 -6,780 
   
Impairment of goodwill, 
amortization of acquired intangible 
assets 0 -13,681 
Effect on loss for the period 
after tax 68 -20,461 
 

Non-cash stock option charges, warrants etc. relate to the stock 
option program (note 8. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements).  

Transaction costs of EUR k 3,157 relate to the acquisitions of 
Inneractive (EUR k 3,087) which were not eligible for being 
capitalized to the investment as well cost in connection with an 
acquisition which was not closed (EUR k 70). Inneractive 
transaction costs contained an extension fee for Inneractive closing 
window (EUR k 2,254) as well as foreign currency losses caused 
by the delay of the Inneractive closing (EUR k 833).  

In 2016, other non-recurring income of EUR k 3,899 was 
recognized resulting from the release of the comfort letter for Big 
Star Global as some risks anticipated in 2015 did not realize 
following the successful disposal of Big Star Global in April 2016. 
In 2015, the discontinuation of Big Star Global resulting in costs of 
EUR k 5,763 in access to the impairment on investments in Big 
Star Global and RNTS Media Co. Ltd. of EUR k 13,681. 
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  2016 2015 
  EUR k EUR k 

Total consolidated loss for the 
year -25,855 -37,934 

    
 Individual subsidiaries 10,738 11,530 
 Eliminations 5,494 4,569 

Total Company only loss for the 
year -9,623 -21,835 

20. Long-term borrowings 

Long-term borrowings as of 31 December 2016 and 2015 compile 
as following: 

Creditor 

Annual 
interest 

rate as of  
31 Dec 

2016 

31 Dec 
2016 

EUR k 

31 Dec 
2015 

EUR k 
Maturity 

date 
Convertible 
bond 5.000% 136,642 88,572 

27 July 
2020 

  
136,642 88,572 

 

 

The accrued interest of the convertible bond are recognized in the 
‘Other current liabilities’. For further details to the convertible 
bonds, please refer to note 4. of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

21. Trade and other payables 

The following table shows the elements of the trade and other 
payables: 

 
31 Dec 2016 

EUR k 
31 Dec 2015 

EUR k 
Inneractive earn-out due 
within 1 year 5,922 0 

Accrued interest on the 
convertible bond 3,223 2,145 

Trade payables 2,171 1,417 

Accrued expenses 733 1,288 

Others 2,972 20 

 15,021 4,870 

22. Short-term borrowings 

Short-term borrowings relating solely to a bridge-loan granted by 
Inneractive Ltd. in the course of the purchase of Inneractive. 

23. Maturity analysis of financial liabilities 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company's 
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

 

 

 
2016 

 
Total Within 1 

years 
1 years 

to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

 
EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Long-term 
borrowings 150,000 0 150,000 0 
Short-term employee 
benefits liabilities 676 676 0 0 
Trade and other 
payables 15,021 15,021 0 0 
Other current 
liabilities 0 0 0 0 
Other non-current 
liabilities 9,305 0 9,305 0 

Provisions 0 0 0 0 

Total 175,002 15,697 159,305 0 
  

 
2015 

 
Total Within 1 

years 

1 years 
to 5 

years 
Over 5 
years 

 
EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Long-term 
borrowings 100,000 0 100,000 0 
Short-term employee 
benefits liabilities 255 255 0 0 
Trade and other 
payables 2,723 2,723 0 0 
Other current 
liabilities 25,000 5,000 20,000 0 

Provisions 4,146 4,146 0 0 
Total 

132,124 12,124 120,000 0 

24. Other current liabilities 

Other current liabilities consist mainly of accrued nominal interest 
(EUR k 2,145) on the convertible bond paid on 26 January 2016. 
For more information regarding the convertible bond please refer 
to note 4. in the consolidated financial statements.   

25. Short-term provisions 

 
1 Jan 
2016 

In-
crease 

Utiliza-
tion 

Re-
versal 

31 Dec 
2016 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
Liabilities 
from Big Star 
Global 4,146 0 -247 -3,899 0 

 
 

1 Jan 
2015 

In-
crease 

Utiliza-
tion 

Re-
versal 

31 Dec 
2015 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
Liabilities 
from Big Star 
Global 0 0 0 -4,146 4,146 
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Interest 

rate 

RNTS Deutschland GmbH 7.00% 

Fyber GmbH 2.00% 

Fyber GmbH 7.80% 

RNTS Germany Holding GmbH 7.80% 
 

In the reporting period 2015, a loan to RNTS Media Deutschland 
GmbH was fully impaired again. The loans to Big Star Global Co., 
Ltd. were not impaired in 2015, because the company was not 
wound down during the reporting year, instead it was reclassified 
as discontinued operations. 

15. Trade and other receivables 

The trade and other receivables consist of intragroup receivables 
against subsidiaries of EUR k 1,244 (2015: 232) , VAT receivables 
of EUR k 236 (2015: EUR k 777) and other of EUR k 96 (2015: 
EUR k 5). 

Please refer to note 4 for further details on reclassification of 2015 
amounts. 

16. Other current financial assets 

Other current financial assets consist of short-term lendings to 
affiliates and ADS Securities LLC.  

EUR k 2016 

  1 Jan Increase Decrease 31-Dec 
ADS 
Securities 
LLC 145 25,151 -19,752 5,544 
Big Star 
Global Co. 
Ltd. 0 144 -144 0 
Fyber GmbH 4,872 281 -5,153 0 

Fyber RTB 
GmbH 413 2,287 0 2,700 
Heyzap Inc.  0 197 0 197 

Total 5,430 28,060 -25,049 8,441 

 

EUR k 2015 

  1 Jan Increase Decrease 31-Dec 

ADS 
Securities 
LLC 0 145 0 145 
Big Star 
Global Co. 
Ltd. 0 508 -508 0 
Fyber GmbH 0 4,999 -127 4,872 

Fyber RTB 
GmbH 0 413 0 413 

Total 0 6,065 -635 5,430 

 

 

The interest rates of short-term loans are as follows: 

 

 

 

 Interest rate 

Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 8.00% 

Fyber GmbH 5.00% 

Falk Realtime, Ltd.  8.00% 

ADS Securities LLC 0.75% 

17. Other current assets 

Other current assets relate to prepaid expenses of EUR k 264 
(2015: EUR k 312). Please refer to note 4 for further details on 
reclassification of 2015 amounts. 

18. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash at banks that is freely 
available. 

19. Equity 

For a breakdown and a development of equity please refer to the 
company statement of changes of equity. 

The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2016 
report a positive net equity position of EUR k 120,444. The 
company financial statements as at 31 December 2016 report a 
positive net equity of EUR k 151,582. 

The following table shows the reconciliation of consolidated and 
company equity for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015: 

   2016 2015 

   EUR k EUR k 

Total consolidated equity  120,444 144,849 

 Individual subsidiaries (1) 33,485 17,632 

 
Other comprehensive 
income (2) -2,347 -379 

   151,582 162,102 
 

(1) Fyber N.V.’s investments in its subsidiaries are 
accounted for using the cost method. Under the cost method, the 
investments in the subsidiaries are carried in the Company financial 
statements at cost. Changes in the net asset value of the 
subsidiaries are not recognized in the company financial statement 
while they do fully affect the equity carried in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

(2) Other comprehensive income consists solely of the 
translation of the accounts of the foreign subsidiaries from Korean 
Won as well as US-Dollar and actuarial gains disclosed in the 
Financial Statements of Big Star Global Co., Ltd. Please refer to 
note 28.4. of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for 
further details. 

The following table shows the reconciliation of consolidated and 
company net income for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 
2015: 
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Please refer to note 2.6.1. and note 42.2 of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements for further information regarding 
the fair value hierarchy. 

27.3. Net results by measurement category 

EUR k 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2016 

 Recognized through profit and loss  
Net 

result 

 
from 

interest from revaluation  

  
Currency 

effect 
Bad 
debt  

Financial assets     
Available-for-Sale  0 0 0 0 
Loans and 
Receivables 4,862 0 0 4,864 

Financial liabilities     
Measured at 
amortized costs -9,390 -1,750 0 -11,140 

 -4,528 -1,750 0 -6,276 

 

EUR k 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2015 

 Recognized through profit and loss  
Net 

result 
from 

interest from revaluation 

  
Currency 

effect 
Bad 
debt  

Financial assets     
Available-for-Sale  0 0 0 0 
Loans and 
Receivables 2,304 0 -5 2,299 

     
Financial liabilities     
Measured at 
amortized costs -3,397 -3 0 -3,400 

 -1,093 -3 -5 -1,101 

 

28. Financial risk management 

Please refer to note 41. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further information regarding the financial risk 
management of the comprehensive Group including the Company. 

29. Relationships with related parties 

Outstanding balances as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 with 
subsidiaries, key management personnel and shareholders are as 
follows: 

 2016 

 

Amounts 
owed by 
parties 

Amounts 
owed to 
parties 

Sales to 
parties 

Purch--
ases 
from 

parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 
Subsidiaries 
     
Advertile 
Mobile GmbH 16 0 14 0 
Big Star Global 
Co., Ltd. 0 0 15 0 
thereof 
allowance 0 0 -15 0 
Falk Realtime 
Ltd 2 0 2 0 

Fyber GmbH 47,153 0 3,332 382 

Fyber Inc 0 498 0 364 
Fyber Media 
GmbH 266 0 58 0 

Fyber RTB 2,725 0 212 0 

Heyzap Inc 196 0 13 0 

Inneractive 0 1,215 0 55 
RNTS 
Germany 
Holding 19,981 0 1,416 0 
RNTS Media 
Deutschland 
GmbH 348 0 338 0 
thereof 
allowance -348 0 -338 0 
     
Key 
management 
personnel 0 0 0 2,467 

     
Shareholder     
- Sapinda 
Invest S.à r.l. 0 0 0 111 

 70,339 1,713 5,047 3,379 
 

 2015 

 

Amounts 
owed by 
parties 

Amounts 
owed to 
parties 

Sales 
to 

parties 

Purch-
ases 
from 

parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

Subsidiaries     

RNTS Media 
Deutschland 
GmbH 927 0 313 0 
thereof 
allowance -927 0 -313 0 
Big Star Global 
Co., Ltd.  607 0 65 0 
thereof 
allowance -607 0 -65 0 

Fyber GmbH 32,231 715 1,768 18 

Fyber GmbH 414 0 14 0 
     
Key 
management 
personnel 0 0 0 736 

     
Shareholder     
- Sapinda Asia 
Ltd. 0 0 0 72 
- SYSK Ltd. 0 0 0 67 
- Lars 
Windhorst 0 0 0 21 
- Sapinda 
Invest S.à r.l. 0 0 0 268 

 326,452 715 1,782 1,209 
 

Outstanding balances with Anoa Capital S.A. are as follows. The 
disclosure is made as Mr. Dirk van Daele is CEO and controlling 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES 

26. Capital management 

Capital includes equity attributable to shareholders of the 
Company. The Company has the following net debts: 

 1 Jan -  1 Jan -  

 
31 Dec 

2016 
31 Dec 

2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Long-term borrowings 136,642 88,572 

Short-term borrowings 1,195 0 
Accrued interest on convertible 
bond 3,695 2,145 

Cash and cash equivalents -5,660 -67,990 

Net debt 135,872 22,727 
 

The sharp increase in long-term borrowings is reducible to the 
convertible bond, issued during the reporting period 2015. Please 
refer to note 4. and note 39. of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for further information. 

27. Financial assets and liabilities 

27.1. Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities per category 
are as follows: 

EUR k 31 Dec 2016 
 

Total 

Available 
for Sale 

(fair 
value) 

Loans and 
Receivables 
(amortized 

costs) 
Financial assets 

Investment in 
subsidiaries 231,436 231,436 0 
Other non-current 
financial assets 66,243 0 66,243 
Trade and other 
receivables 1,576 0 1,576 
Other current financial 
assets 8,441 0 8,441 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 5,660 0 5,660 

 313,356 231,436 81,920 
 

 

 

 

 

 

EUR k 31 Dec 2015 
 

Total 

Available 
for Sale 

(fair 
value) 

Loans and 
Receivables 
(amortized 

costs) 
Financial assets 

   
Investment in 
subsidiaries 156,989 156,989 0 

Other non-current 
financial assets 27,155 0 27,155 
Trade and other 
receivables 236 0 236 
Other current financial 
assets 5,430  5,430 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 67,990 0 67,990 

 257,800 156,989 100,811 
 

EUR k 31 Dec 2016 
 

Total 

Measured at 
amortized 

costs 
Financial liabilities 

Long-term borrowings 136,642 136,642 

Other non-current liabilities 9,305 9,305 

Trade and other payables 15,035 15,035 
Short-term employee benefit 
liabilities 676 676 

Short-term borrowings 1,195 1,195 

 162,853 162,853 
 

EUR k 31 Dec 2015 
 

Total 

Measured at 
amortized 

costs 
Financial liabilities 

  
Long-term borrowings 88,572 88,572 
Other non-current liabilities 0 0 
Trade and other payables 2,722 2,722 
Short-term employee benefit 
liabilities 255 255 
Short-term borrowings 0 0 
 91,549 91,549 

 

27.2. Fair value measurement of financial assets 
and liabilities 

Except for the convertible bond, carrying values are reasonable 
approximations of the respective fair values. Please refer to note 
42.2 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further 
information on the convertible bond. 
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statements of the Group were audited by Ernst & Young 
Accountants LLP. The following fees have been recognized in other 
operating expenses:  

 
1 Jan- 

31 Dec 2016 
1 Jan- 

31 Dec 2015 
 EUR k EUR k 

Grant Thornton   

Audit services 438 0 

Other confirmation services 0 0 

Tax consulting services 0 0 

Other services 0 0 

Ernst & Young   

Audit services 118 442 

Other confirmation services 0 0 

Tax consulting services 0 0 

Other services 0 0 

 556 442 
 

32. Other information 

Please refer to note 47. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further information on significant events after the 
balance sheet date. 

According to the article 30 of the articles of association as of 
14 June 2017 the management board, with the approval of the 
supervisory board, may decide that part of the profit realized during 
a financial year be set aside to increase and / or form reserves. The 
remaining profit will be put at the disposal of the general meeting. 

Distributions may be made only insofar as the Company’s equity 
exceed the amount of the paid in and called up part of the issued 
capital, increased by the reserves which must be kept by virtue of 
the law or theses articles of association (see article 30.7). 

The management propose, regarding to the distribution of the result 
for the year 2016, to add the losses to the accumulated deficit. 

33. Remuneration of the management board and 
the supervisory board 

On 21 September 2016, Mr. Ziv Elul joined the management board. 
Mr. Janis Zech was a board member until 1 January 2017. Mr. 
Andreas Bodczek and Mr. Heiner Luntz are still board members of 
the management board. 

Please refer to note 29. of the notes to the Company financial 
statements for information regarding the remuneration of the 
management board and to note 47.4 of the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements in respect of changes of the 
management board after the reporting date. 

During the financial year 2016, the supervisory board was extended 
by the appointment of Mr. Thorsten Grenz, Mr. Jens Schumann and 
Dr. Crid Yu as of 15 June 2016. Mr. Ryan Kavanaugh stepped 
down as member of the supervisory board with effect of 16 
November 2016. Mr. Dirk van Daele and Mr. Guy Dubois are still 
members of the supervisory board. 

Please refer to note 29. of the notes to the company financial 
statements for information regarding the remuneration of the 
supervisory board and to note 47.4 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements in respect of changes of the supervisory board 
after the reporting date. 
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shareholder of Anoa Capital S.A. as well as Chairman of the 
supervisory board of RNTS Media N.V. 

   Anoa Capital S.A. 

 

Amounts 
owed by 
parties 

Amounts 
owed to 
parties 

Sales to 
parties 

Purchases 
from parties 

 EUR k EUR k EUR k EUR k 

2016 0 10 0 667 

2015 0 146 0 1,689 
 

Please refer to note 42. of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further details. 

Compensation for key management personnel for the year ended 
31 December 2016 and 2015 are as follows:  

 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

 EUR k EUR k 

Share-based payments 608 0 

Short-term employee benefits 1,859 536 

Defined contribution plan 0 0 

Termination benefits 0 0 

 2,467 536 
 

The amounts shown in the table above are those recognized as an 
expense during the reporting period related to key management 
personnel. Key management personnel include any person that 
has the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling of the activities of the entities, directly or indirectly. 

The compensation for members of the management board and 
supervisory board of the Company are as follows: 

  
31 Dec 

2016 31 Dec 2015 
  EUR k EUR k 

Management Board Member 
Andreas 
Bodczek 

share-based 
payment 440 0 

 

short-term 
employee 
benefits 809 281 

Roger van 
Diepen 

short-term 
employee 
benefits 0 160 

Hyunghoon 
Han 1), 3) 

short-term 
employee 
benefits 0 95 

Heiner Luntz 
share-based 
payment 168 0 

 

short-term 
employee 
benefits 343 0 

  1,760 536 

1) Compensation was paid by subsidiaries of the Company 
2) Member of the Management Board until 30 June 2015 
3) Member of the Management Board until 30 November 2015 
 
 
 
 

Supervisory Board Member 

Ryan 
Kavanaugh 

share-based 
payments 178 0 

Dirk van 
Daele 

share-based 
payments 189 0 

Guy Dubois 
share-based 
payments 189 0 

Thorsten 
Grenz 

share-based 
payments 52 0 

Crid Yu 
share-based 
payments 52 0 

Jens 
Schumann 

share-based 
payments 47 0 

  707 0 

Total  2,467 536 
 

The following table summarize the financial income and expenses 
of the Company from its related parties in 2016 and 2015: 

 2016 

 Finance Finance  
income expense 

 EUR k EUR k 

Subsidiaries   

Fyber GmbH 3,084 0 

RNTS Germany Holding GmbH 1,416 0 

RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH 338 0 

Fyber RTB GmbH 195 0 

Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 15 0 

Heyzap Inc 13 0 

Inneractive Ltd. 0 36 

 5,061 36 
 

 2015 

 Finance Finance  
income expense 

 EUR k EUR k 

Subsidiaries   

Fyber GmbH 1,768 4 

RNTS Media Deutschland 
GmbH 

313 0 

Big Star Global Co., Ltd. 65 0 

Falk Realtime Limited 14 0 

 2,160 4 

30. Other financial commitments 

There are no other financial commitments. 

31. Auditors fee 

Grant Thornton was elected to audit the financial statements of the 
Group for the years 2016 and 2017. Before that, the financial 
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30.4
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Entitlement to Distributions. 
31.1

 
31.2 
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To: the annual meeting of shareholders and the supervisory board 
of Fyber N.V. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
 
 
A. Report on the audit of the financial statements 2016 

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2016 of Fyber N.V., based in Amsterdam, as set 
out on pages 86 to 135. The financial statements include the consolidated financial 
statements and the company financial statements. 

In our opinion: 

• the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of Fyber N.V. as at December 31, 2016, and of its result and its cash 
flows for 2016 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code; 

• the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of Fyber N.V. as at December 31, 2016 and of its result for 2016 in 
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise:  

1. the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016;  

2. the following statements for 2016: the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows; and  

3. the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.  

The company financial statements comprise:   

Grant Thornton
Accountants en Adviseurs B.V.
Laan der Continenten 160
P.O. Box 2259
2400 CG Alphen aan den Rijn
The Netherlands
T 088 - 676 90 00
F 088 - 676 90 10
www.gt.nl

Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V. is a member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd (Grant Thornton International).

Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V. is registered with the Chamber of Commerce of The Hague trade register under number 28105565. To all our services our general
conditions, as registered with the Registry of the District Court in The Hague, apply. A copy of these conditions will be sent to you on request. Any liability shall be limited to the amount which is
mentioned in the general conditions.
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1. the company balance sheet as at December 31, 2016;  

2. the company profit and loss account for 2016; and 

3. the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

Basis for our opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Our 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. 

We are independent of Fyber N.V. in accordance with the Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant 
independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the 
Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics). 

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Materiality 
Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial 
statements as a whole at EUR 3.500.000. The materiality is based on 2% of revenue. We 
have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our 
opinion are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons.  

We agreed with the supervisory board that misstatements in excess of EUR 175.000, which 
are identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements 
that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds. 

Scope of the group audit  
Fyber N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The Fyber business, managed from 
Germany, and the Inneractive business, managed from Israel, form the majority of the 
business and there are relatively smaller operations in other European countries, as well as in 
the USA and Asia. The financial information of all these entities is included in the 
consolidated financial statements of Fyber N.V. 

Our group audit mainly focused on the more significant group entities, the Fyber business 
and Inneractive business, due to their significance and risk characteristics. For these entities, 
we used Grant Thornton component auditors in Germany and Israel, who are familiar with 
local laws and regulations, to perform full scope audit procedures. For other group entities 
we performed review procedures or specific procedures. 

Where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of 
involvement we needed to have in their audit work to be able to conclude whether sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence has been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the consolidated 
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financial statements as a whole. The group engagement team has visited the component 
teams. 

The group consolidation, financial disclosures and a number of complex items were audited 
by the group engagement team, with assistance from the component auditors at the 
company’s head office. We involved Grant Thornton specialists to assist the audit team, 
including specialists from our tax, valuation and IT audit departments. 

By performing audit procedures at group entities as mentioned above, together with 
additional procedures at group level, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate 
audit evidence about the group’s financial information to provide an opinion about the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Our key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit 
matters to the supervisory board. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection 
of all matters discussed. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit on the 
financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.  

Key audit matter Our audit strategy  

Going concern 
As the company has rapidly grown, both 
organically and through acquisitions, funding 
of the company is a key focus point of 
management. The availability of sufficient 
funds by arranging new- and complying with 
existing financing agreements is a key 
assumption for the going concern basis of 
accounting. These cashflows from financing 
activities need to be in line with those from 
investment and operating activities. The 
estimated expected future cash flows from 
operating activities are largely based on 
management’s expectations and estimates. 
These are uncertain as they are influenced by 
subjective elements such as forecasted results 
and margins from operating activities. As a 
result we have identified the going concern 
basis of accounting as a key audit matter. 
We refer to note 2.2 going concern 
considerations in the financial statements. 

 
The audit procedures performed consist of, 
among others, reviewing the cash flow 
forecast by evaluating the underlying 
assumptions. For that purpose, we 
challenged the approved budget including 
management expectations and estimates. 
We considered projected cash flows from 
operating activities in combination with 
these from investing activities, including 
CAPEX, acquisitions and divestments. We 
also reviewed the availability of facilities to 
provide the company with additional 
funding, in order to conclude on the 
appropriateness of using the going concern 
basis of accounting as well as on the notes 
thereto. 

 

Revenue recognition 
We have identified revenue recognition as a 
key audit matter because of the industry 
specific risks. The major revenue generating 

 
Our audit focused, among others, on 
internal control measures in combination 
with substantive procedures. Internal 
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business processes are technology-driven, 
leading to complexities in assessing the 
accuracy, completeness and cut off of the 
revenue recognized. These risk 
characteristics, in combination with the 
significance of revenue and accounts 
receivables are the reason for identifying 
revenue recognition as a key audit matter. 

controls assessed related to proper cut off 
of revenue, pricing, monthly reconciliation 
between the tracking data, billing 
information and revenue recognized for the 
purpose of assessing the accuracy and 
completeness of revenue. As these 
procedures are predominantly technology-
driven, we have used our IT audit 
specialists to support us. Substantive 
procedures consisted, among others, of 
analytical procedures, cut off testing, price 
testing, review of subsequent cash receipts, 
ratio analysis and journal entry testing. 

Goodwill 
During the year Heyzap Inc and Inneractive 
Inc were acquired. As a result of these 
transactions the recognized goodwill on the 
balance sheet increased significantly. At 
December 31, 2016, the goodwill amounts to 
€ 217,0 million (2015: € 144,2 million).  

Fyber N.V. is required under EU-IFRS to 
test annually the amount of goodwill for the 
possible existence of impairments. This 
annual impairment test is key for our audit, 
since the estimation process is complex and 
highly subjective and is based on 
assumptions. These assumptions are 
influenced by anticipated future market 
developments and economic conditions, 
revenue growth, margin developments, 
discount rate and terminal growth rates. 
The key assumptions and sensitivities are 
disclosed in note 17 of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
Our audit procedures included, among 
others, obtaining an understanding of the 
valuation model used as well as the 
assumptions, such as the WACC, 
assessment of the cash generating units and 
the cashflow forecasts. We evaluated the 
assumptions and cashflow forecasts in 
relation to the five-year-plan approved by 
management, involving independent 
valuation specialists of Grant Thornton to 
support us in our audit. 
We also focused on the adequacy of 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

 

 

B. Report on the other information included in the annual report 
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report 
contains other information that consists of: 

• The management board’s report; 

• Other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.  
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Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information: 

• is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; 

• contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained 
through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the 
other information contains material misstatements. 

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of 
the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed 
is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial 
statements. 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the 
management board’s report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code 
and other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

C. Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
Engagement 
We were engaged by the supervisory board in December 2016, and our appointment as 
auditor of Fyber N.V. was formally confirmed in an extraordinary shareholder meeting on 
April 11, 2017. We have operated as statutory auditor since that date. 

D. Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements 

Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the financial 
statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 
Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial 
reporting frameworks mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on 
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.  

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting 
process. 
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to 
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion. 

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which 
means we may not detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, 
timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified 
misstatements on our opinion. 

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism 
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements 
and independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:  

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control; 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management;  

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue 
as a going concern; 

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures; and  

• Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
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Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, 
supervising and performing the group audit. In this respect, we have determined the nature 
and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the 
size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected 
group entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of 
financial information or specific items. 

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We provide the supervisory board with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the supervisory board, we determine the key audit 
matters: those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating 
the matter is in the public interest. 

Amsterdam, July 25, 2017 
 
Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviseurs B.V. 

 

N.H.B. Jonker 
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